Progress in Retinal and Eye Research 27 (2008) 434-449

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Progress in Retinal and Eye Research

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/prer



Molecular chaperones and photoreceptor function

Maria Kosmaoglou, Nele Schwarz, John S. Bett, Michael E. Cheetham*

Division of Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience, UCL Institute of Ophthalmology, 11-43 Bath Street, London EC1 V 9EL, UK

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Retina Neurodegeneration Retinal dystrophy Molecular chaperone Rhodopsin RP2 AIPL1 Heat shock protein Hsp

ABSTRACT

Molecular chaperones facilitate and regulate protein conformational change within cells. This encompasses many fundamental cellular processes: including the correct folding of nascent chains; protein transport and translocation; signal transduction and protein quality control. Chaperones are, therefore, important in several forms of human disease, including neurodegeneration. Within the retina, the highly specialized photoreceptor cell presents a fascinating paradigm to investigate the specialization of molecular chaperone function and reveals unique chaperone requirements essential to photoreceptor function. Mutations in several photoreceptor proteins lead to protein misfolding mediated neurodegeneration. The best characterized of these are mutations in the molecular light sensor, rhodopsin, which cause autosomal dominant retinitis pigmentosa. Rhodopsin biogenesis is likely to require chaperones, while rhodopsin misfolding involves molecular chaperones in quality control and the cellular response to protein aggregation. Furthermore, the specialization of components of the chaperone machinery to photoreceptor specific roles has been revealed by the identification of mutations in molecular chaperones that cause inherited retinal dysfunction and degeneration. These chaperones are involved in several important cellular pathways and further illuminate the essential and diverse roles of molecular chaperones.

© 2008 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introc	duction				
	1.1.	Molecular chaperone function				
	1.2.	Major chaperone families				
		1.2.1. Hsp90				
		1.2.2. Hsp70				
		1.2.3. Hsp60				
		1.2.4. Hsp40 (DnaJ)				
		1.2.5. Small Hsps (sHsps)				
		1.2.6. Calnexin and lectin chaperones. 436				
	1.3.	Regulation of molecular chaperone function				
2.	2. Molecular chaperones in retinal degeneration					
	2.1.	Mutations in rhodopsin cause retinitis pigmentosa 438				
	2.2.	Class II rod opsin protein misfolding and aggregation				
	2.3.	2.3. Rod opsin interacts with multiple ER chaperones during biogenesis				
	2.4.	Non-ER chaperone opsin interactions				
	2.5.	Chaperone inducers and retinal protein misfolding disease				
3. Putative chaperones as retinal disease genes						
	3.1.	RP2				
	3.2.	Bardet–Biedl Syndrome (BBS) proteins				
	3.3.	Prefoldin 5				
	3.4.	AIPL1				

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +44 20 7608 6944; fax: +44 20 7608 4002. *E-mail address*: michael.cheetham@ucl.ac.uk (M.E. Cheetham).

^{1350-9462/\$ -} see front matter @ 2008 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.preteyeres.2008.03.001

4.	Conclusions	446
	Acknowledgements	446
	Note added in proof	446
	References	446

1. Introduction

1.1. Molecular chaperone function

Molecular chaperones are facilitators and regulators of protein conformational change (Ellis and Hartl, 1999). Importantly, they do not provide information with regard to the final protein structure. Chaperones bind to and stabilize conformers of other proteins, and via cycles of regulated binding and release are able to facilitate the correct fate of their client protein and reduce protein aggregation (Dobson, 2004). Through this mechanism, molecular chaperones play an essential role in many cellular processes. They have a principal role in protein folding, where they are involved in the de novo synthesis of polypeptides (Hartl and Hayer-Hartl, 2002), transport across membranes (Rapoport, 2007) and the refolding of proteins denatured by environmental stress (Nollen and Morimoto, 2002). The ability to respond to cellular stress is reflected by many molecular chaperones also being stress response proteins and bearing the name 'heat shock protein' (or Hsp) followed by an approximate molecular weight (e.g. Hsp70). Molecular chaperones also function in the oligomeric assembly and disassembly of protein complexes, controlled switching between active and inactive conformations of client proteins, intracellular transport and protein guality control and degradation (Ellis, 2006).

More than 20 different families of proteins have chaperone activity. The major chaperone families include the Hsp90, Hsp70, Hsp60 (chaperonins), Hsp40 (DnaJ) and small heat shock proteins (sHsps). These different chaperone families provide different structural solutions to the problems of protein folding (Fig. 1). The best-studied and mechanistically understood chaperone machines are Hsp70 and Hsp60 families. These chaperones recognize and interact with unfolded or partially folded polypeptides by binding to exposed hydrophobic regions within proteins preventing them from aggregating and maintaining them in a folding competent state until release. This is particularly important as the nascent polypeptide emerges from the ribosome (Kaiser et al., 2006). Efficient folding of a newly synthesized polypeptide chain is achieved by a transient interaction with the chaperone that prevents aggregation due to unwanted interactions with hydrophobic regions of other proteins or within the extending polypeptide (Dobson, 2004).

The different families of chaperone proteins recognize various intermediates of non-native polypeptides and interact through different modes of binding (Fig. 1). Hsp70 proteins bind to short regions of peptides with a certain position and pattern of hydrophobic residues in a substrate-binding pocket resembling a 'clamp' (Jiang et al., 2005). In contrast, Hsp60 (chaperonins) facilitate folding by enclosing non-native polypeptides in the central cavity (or 'cage') of a ring structure formed from identical or closely related rotationally symmetrical subunits (Rye et al., 1999). Another example of chaperone activity is the peptidyl-prolyl *cis-trans* isomerase (PPIase) activity found in the cyclophilins (e.g. NinaA) that overcomes a rate limiting step in protein folding, the correct orientation of proline residues (Yaffe et al., 1997; Andreotti, 2003).

Molecular chaperones are a group of functionally related but otherwise diverse protein families. These families are conserved among the vast majority of prokaryotic and eukaryotic organisms and members of each family occupy both cytosol and endoplasmic reticulum (ER). The following is a brief description of the properties of these families.

1.2. Major chaperone families

1.2.1. Hsp90

Members of the Hsp90 family of chaperones are present in most cellular compartments such as the cytosol, the ER, mitochondria and the chloroplast in plants. Hsp90 functions as a homodimer, and can be divided into three domains, an N-terminal ATPase domain, a 'middle' domain and a C-terminal domain. The structure of the N-terminal domain was the first to be solved (Prodromou et al., 1997) and revealed an atypical ATP binding pocket, resolving the controversy over whether Hsp90 was capable of nucleotide binding. The ATP binding pocket is the site of binding for the macrocyclic antitumor agent geldanamycin (Prodromou et al., 1997). Geldanamycin binding to Hsp90 can disrupt productive complexes with protein kinase and steroid hormone receptor clients (Mimnaugh et al., 1996). The action of geldanamycin and related compounds is attributed to their action as competitive inhibitors of ATP binding which is essential for Hsp90 function (Obermann et al., 1998). Recently, the 'closed' structure of an Hsp90 dimer in contact with the co-chaperone p23 was solved and revealed that Hsp90 does not enclose its client proteins but provides a bipartite binding surface whose formation and disruption are coupled to the chaperone ATPase cycle (Ali et al., 2006; Fig. 1). Hsp90 fulfils its chaperone functions at the core of a multiprotein complex that incorporates other chaperones and an assortment of co-chaperones. Many Hsp90 co-chaperones contain a tetratricopeptide repeat (TPR) domain but other than this structural feature they are largely different. TPR containing cochaperones interact with the C-terminus of Hsp90 and facilitate diverse functions (Prodromou et al., 1999). For example, the E3 ubiquitin ligase CHIP functions in targeting Hsp90 client proteins to the proteasome (Jiang et al., 2001).

1.2.2. Hsp70

The Hsp70 family has several members that are both stressinducible (Hsp70, Hsp70i) and constitutively expressed (Hsc70). There are forms in most cellular compartments including cytoplasm and nucleus (Hsc70), mitochondria (Hsp75, mortallin or mtHsp70), and endoplasmic reticulum (Grp78 or BiP) (Mayer and Bukau, 2005). Hsp70 proteins have an N-terminal ATPase domain and a C-terminal substrate binding (or client binding) domain (Fig. 1). ATP hydrolysis in the N-terminal domain is linked to a conformational change in the client binding domain (Vogel et al., 2006). The client protein binding domain has a base of beta strands and a 'lid' that is closed upon ATP hydrolysis to form a 'clamp' (Jiang et al., 2005). This clamp binds short extended hydrophobic regions within client proteins and prevents them from aggregation (Jiang et al., 2005). Hsp70 proteins can also bind apparently native proteins, such as the un-coating of clathrin from clathrin cages (Ungewickell et al., 1995). The versatility displayed by the Hsp70 family is achieved through extensive employment of co-chaperones, including Hsp40 proteins, and a range of nucleotide exchange factors (NEFs). TPR containing co-chaperones also bind Hsp70, e.g. Hop (Scheufler et al., 2000).

1.2.3. Hsp60

The Hsp60 family, also known as the chaperonins, form large ring assemblies that assist protein folding (Fig. 1). Two classes of chaperonin have been identified: type I and type II. Type I chaperonins are similar to bacterial GroEL and are composed of two seven-membered rings that are usually homomeric. These are found in mitochondria (Hsp60), chloroplasts (Rubisco binding protein), and the eubacterial cytosol (GroEL). Type II chaperonins are still formed of two rings but the rings are more diverse and are usually composed of several different subunits. In archaebacteria the type II chaperonin is known as the thermosome and the chaperonin of the eukaryotic cytosol is known as CCT or TRiC (Horwich et al., 2007). These chaperonins have co-chaperones (or co-chaperonins), such as GroES for GroEL and phosducin-like proteins for CCT. GroEL and GroES function together to form a 'two-stroke engine' for protein folding that is regulated by ATP binding, hydrolysis and release in the different rings (Rye et al., 1999). Client proteins are bound within a central cavity, GroES binds and upon ATP hydrolysis the clients are released into the now encapsulated cavity to fold productively before finally being released as a native protein or rebound by the chaperone system.

1.2.4. Hsp40 (DnaJ)

The Hsp40 or DnaI family of chaperones are defined by the presence of a highly conserved 70 amino acid I-domain, which is found at the N-terminus of Escherichia coli DnaJ (Pellecchia et al., 1996). The J-domain has two anti-parallel alpha helices joined by a loop that contains the HPD motif and two other alpha helices that stabilize the structure (Fig. 1). Outside of this J-domain, Hsp40 proteins can be extremely diverse and have been classified on the basis of their domain conservation with DnaJ as type I, full domain conservation; II, conservation of N-terminal J-domain and neighboring G/F domain; or III, J-domain alone (Cheetham and Caplan, 1998). Consequently, the Hsp40 family has a wide range of molecular weights from less than 20 to over 500 kDa. This is probably the most diverse and numerous of the chaperone families with over 50 different human proteins that contain a J-domain or J-like domain, which has imperfect conservation of an HPD motif within the I-domain. The I-domain mediates the interaction of Hsp40 proteins and their partner Hsp70s (Hennessy et al., 2005).

1.2.5. Small Hsps (sHsps)

The molecular mass of these chaperones ranges from 15 to 42 kDa monomers that come together to form dynamic oligomeric structures, based around dimer subunit assembly (Haslbeck, 2002). The major lens proteins the α -crystallins are members of this family of chaperones. The sHsps share a conserved 'α-crystallin domain' of approximately 90 residues in the C-terminal part of the protein (Haslbeck, 2002). These chaperones are not thought to be regulated by nucleotide binding and release but their function and oligomerization are regulated by phosphorylation and temperature. For example, the dimer of Hsp26 specifically recognizes and binds unfolded polypeptide chains (Haslbeck et al., 1999). Following phosphorylation, the oligomeric structure of sHsps undergoes changes. Phosphorylation of Hsp27 leads to its dissociation and reduced chaperone activity (Rogalla et al., 1999). In contrast Hsp25 showed chaperone activity as a hexadecamer (Ehrnsperger et al., 1999). sHsps do not appear to have dedicated co-chaperones but instead seem to network with other chaperone families.

1.2.6. Calnexin and lectin chaperones

The ER uses the glycosylation of proteins in conjunction with lectin chaperones to monitor protein folding and enhance quality control. Calnexin is a type I transmembrane protein that interacts with monoglucosylated intermediates bearing the sugar appendage $Glc_1Man_{7-9}GlcNAc_2$. Calnexin has a soluble homologue, calreticulin, that is resident in the ER lumen. Nascent glycoproteins associate with calnexin and calreticulin through cycles of binding and release (Molinari et al., 2004). This cycle is essential for quality control as its exposes unfolded glycoproteins to folding factors and accessory enzymes, which direct correct protein folding (Ellgaard and Helenius, 2003). ERp57 is one of these factors thought to be recruited to folding glycoproteins through its interaction with calnexin or calreticulin (Lindquist et al., 2001) although ERp57 may also function as an unassisted chaperone (Peaper et al., 2005).

1.3. Regulation of molecular chaperone function

For many chaperones, cycles of client protein binding and release are coupled to conformational changes in the chaperone protein that are dependent on the hydrolysis and exchange of ATP. This process is regulated by protein cofactors known as cochaperones. Co-chaperones function synergistically with the major chaperones in protein folding and often have independent chaperone activity, but their major role may be to provide these folding machines with specificity in client protein binding. For example, the Hsp70 protein machinery achieves its multiple cellular functions because of various co-chaperone proteins, such as the Hsp40 (DnaJ) family that stimulate Hsp70 ATP hydrolysis through their conserved J-domain and other co-chaperones that regulate nucleotide exchange (Fig. 2). In this model, the client protein is presented to Hsp70 by the Hsp40 co-chaperone, or Hsp70 is activated by an Hsp40 to bind a client nearby (Cheetham and Caplan, 1998). The bound client can be stabilized on Hsp70 by the Hsp70 interacting protein (Hip) or its release can be stimulated by an exchange factor, such as Bag1 or HspBP1 (Hohfeld and Jentsch, 1997; Kabani et al., 2002). The released client protein may fold to the native state or enter another cycle of chaperone binding and release. If the client spends too long in the chaperone system or if it is targeted by specialized co-chaperones it will be sorted for degradation by the proteasome (Westhoff et al., 2005).

In addition to the J-domain there are some other common cochaperones motifs. For example, Hip (Hohfeld and Jentsch, 1997), Hop (Scheufler et al., 2000), CHIP (Connell et al., 2001) and the immunophilins, including AIPL1 (Sohocki et al., 2000), use a degenerate 34 amino acid repeat motif, the TPR to promote chaperone/co-chaperone interactions and modify chaperone function.

In addition, there is functional co-operation between the individual chaperone machines. For example, the Hsp70/Hsp90 organizing protein (Hop) functions to bring together these two chaperone machines to form a larger chaperone heterocomplex (Scheufler et al., 2000). This chaperone heterocomplex of Hsp70, Hsp90 and several co-chaperones functions in the assembly of the steroid receptor and transcription factor complexes (Morishima et al., 2000). Similarly, the Hsp70 chaperone machine may pass nascent chains onto Hsp60 to complete folding (Frydman et al., 1994) and sHsps may sequester denatured proteins preventing them from aggregation until another chaperone system can facilitate their folding or degradation (Lee et al., 1997; Lee and Vierling, 2000). Through these complementary but distinct roles in protein folding, molecular chaperones can facilitate changes in protein conformation from initial folding through function and ultimately to degradation. These protein folding machines can also be finely tuned to fulfil specific roles within cells. The highly specialized



Fig. 1. Different structural solutions to client protein binding in the major families of molecular chaperones. Ribbon diagrams showing representations of the structures and client protein binding sites of the following chaperones. (A) Yeast Hsp90 dimer in complex with co-chaperone p23/Sba1 and ATP analogue (Ali et al., 2006). PDB accession number 2CG9. (B) Amino acids 1–554 of bovine Hsc70 lacking the 10 kDa C-terminal domain (Jiang et al., 2005). PDB accession number 1YUW. (C) The bacterial type I chaperonin (Hsp60 family) GroEL consisting of two stacked homoheptameric rings (Braig et al., 1994) viewed from above one ring. PDB accession number 1GR1. (D) Hexameric structure of an archaeal homologue of prefoldin (Siegert et al., 2000). PDB accession number 1FXK. (E) Dodecameric structure of Hsp16.3 from Mycobacterium Tuberculosis (Kennaway et al., 2005) showing dimer subunits. PDB accession number 2BYU. (F) The J-domain of human Hsp40 family member HDJ-1 (Qian et al., 1996). PDB accession number 1HDJ. (G) Structure of the calnexin luminal domain (Schrag et al., 2001). PDB accession number 1JHN. In all structures α -helices are shown in blue and β sheets in red. Scale bar represents 10 angstroms.

photoreceptor cell, like all other cells, uses the chaperone machinery to perform fundamental cellular functions and it also exploits the capacity for specialization to meet its own specific biology.

2. Molecular chaperones in retinal degeneration

The neural sensory retina is a highly specialized part of the CNS. Inherited retinal dystrophies are characterized by a great



Fig. 2. Co-chaperone regulation of chaperone function. Schematic diagram of the Hsp70 nucleotide based reaction cycle. In this model, the client protein is presented to Hsp70 by the Hsp40 co-chaperone, or Hsp70 is activated by Hsp40 to bind a client nearby. The bound client can be stabilized on Hsp70 by the Hsp70 interacting protein (Hip) or release stimulated by a nucleotide exchange factor, such as Bag1 or HspBP1. The released client protein may fold to the native state or enter another cycle of chaperone binding and release. If the client spends too long in the chaperone system, or if it is targeted by specialized co-chaperones, it will be sorted for degradation by C-terminus of Hsp70 interacting protein (CHIP) and subsequently degraded by the proteasome (Hohfeld and Jentsch, 1997; Hennessy et al., 2005).

degree of phenotypic and genetic heterogeneity with over 120 different disease genes implicated (RetNet, http://www. sph.uth.tmc.edu/RetNet/). Mutations in many of these essential retinal genes can result in protein misfolding with subsequent loss of normal protein function. The misfolded protein can also acquire new, toxic gains of function thought to be associated with aggregation of the misfolded protein. Loss of protein function is usually associated with disease gene mutations resulting in recessive disease or haplo-insufficient dominant disease, whereas other dominant disease mechanisms will be associated with gain of function or dominant negative effects of genetic mutations. In this review, we will focus on how advances in the genetics and pathogenesis of inherited retinal disease have revealed specialized roles for molecular chaperones in the light sensitive photoreceptor cells. In particular, we will focus on the role of chaperones in response to protein misfolding disease and mutations in putative chaperones that cause retinal degeneration.

2.1. Mutations in rhodopsin cause retinitis pigmentosa

Retinitis pigmentosa (RP) is a genetically heterogeneous group of diseases that converge in their symptoms and in the manner in which the retina is affected. Patients present with night blindness and loss of peripheral vision, as the rod photoreceptor cells dysfunction and die followed by cone photoreceptor cell death. The disease then progresses towards the centre of the retina, leading to characteristic tunnel vision and eventual blindness. RP has multiple modes of inheritance: 15–20% of all cases are autosomal dominant (ADRP), 20–25% are autosomal recessive (arRP), 10–15% are X-linked (XLRP), and the remaining 40–55% cannot be classified genetically (Wang et al., 2005; Daiger et al., 2007). Examples of retinal disease genes that have been

associated with protein misfolding are summarized in Table 1. The best studied of these is the rod cell light sensitive photopigment, rhodopsin, which is mutated in approximately 30% of cases of ADRP, (Wang et al., 2005) making it one of the most common causes of RP. Rhodopsin is comprised of the rod opsin protein and the chromophore 11-cis-retinal. Over 140 mutations have been identified in rod opsin (RetNet, http://www.sph.uth.tmc.edu/ RetNet/). These mutations have been classified according to their cellular or biochemical properties (reviewed by Stojanovic and Hwa, 2002; Mendes et al., 2005). Of particular interest to this review are the class II mutants that lead to rod opsin protein misfolding. Class II is the most common class of rod opsin mutations and includes P23H, which is also the most common cause of ADRP in North America. Dryja et al. (1990) first identified the P23H mutation. The proline at position 23 is highly conserved among vertebrate and invertebrate opsins and in other G-protein coupled receptors, for example beta-2-adrenergic receptor (Applebury and Hargrave, 1986). Similarly, many other residues affected by class II mutations are conserved and reside in the intradiscal and transmembrane domains that are critical to the correct folding of the protein (Mendes et al., 2005).

2.2. Class II rod opsin protein misfolding and aggregation

A wealth of data from animal models and cell biological studies has shown that class II rod opsin mutations shift the folding equilibrium away from the native state and towards folding intermediates that have a propensity to misfold and aggregate. In animal models, wild-type (WT) rhodopsin is almost entirely restricted to the outer segment, a specialized rod photo-sensing organelle. In contrast, class II rod opsin mutants show abnormal accumulation in the photoreceptor outer nuclear layer, outer plexiform layer and are also detected in inner and outer segments (Roof et al., 1994; Frederick et al., 2001). In cultured cells, WT opsin translocated to the plasma membrane, whereas class II mutants were retained in the ER, and could not be reconstituted with 11-cis-retinal suggesting protein misfolding (Sung et al., 1991, 1993; Kaushal and Khorana, 1994). The misfolded class II rod opsin is retrotranslocated from the ER to the cytosol and degraded by the ubiquitin-proteasome system or can aggregate into cytosolic aggregates (Illing et al., 2002; Saliba et al., 2002). These rod opsin aggregates can coalesce into large inclusions (Fig. 3) with the properties of an aggresome similar to those described for several polytopic and monotopic integral membrane proteins (Johnston et al., 1998).

In addition to gain of function mechanisms, misfolded opsin can act as a dominant negative to affect the processing and fate of the wild-type protein. Studies on *Drosophila* Rh1 (Kurada et al., 1998) and mammalian rod opsin in cells (Saliba et al., 2002; Rajan and Kopito, 2005) suggested that misfolded rod opsin had a dominant effect on the WT protein. When both WT and mutant rod opsin were present, as in patients heterozygous for ADRP, P23H was found to affect the processing of WT opsin, causing the wild-type protein to aggregate and form inclusions (Saliba et al., 2002). Furthermore, the mutant and WT opsins appeared to form high molecular weight, detergent insoluble complexes, in which the two proteins were in close (<70 Å) proximity (Rajan and Kopito, 2005).

Rod opsin misfolding and aggregation has many similar features to the protein misfolding and aggregation observed in other neurodegenerative diseases such as familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) (Matsumoto et al., 2006), polyglutamine disease (Gidalevitz et al., 2006) and prion disease (Collinge and Clarke, 2007). For example, similar to the inclusions in many neurodegenerations, P23H-opsin inclusions recruit ubiquitin and

Table 1

Examples of retinal disease genes that have protein misfolding as part of their pathogenesis

Disease	Disease gene	Function/putative function	Loss or gain of function	References
Autosomal dominant retinitis pigmentosa (ADRP)	Rhodopsin	Rod photoreceptor light receptor	Gain of function and dominant negative	Illing et al. (2002), Saliba et al. (2002), Rajan and Kopito (2005)
	Inosine monophosphate dehydrogenase type I (IMPDH1) (RP10)	IMPDH1 catalyzes the rate- limiting step of guanine nucleotide synthesis	Gain of function	Aherne et al. (2004)
	Carbonic anhydrase IV (RP17)	Catalyzation of the reversible hydration of carbon dioxide for buffering extracellular pH levels	Loss of function or gain of function	Bonapace et al. (2004), Rebello et al. (2004), Yang et al. (2005)
Bardet–Biedl Syndrome (BBS)	MKKS/BBS6	Centrosomal protein, required	Loss of function	Hirayama et al. (2007)
Best vitelliform macular	Bestrophin 1 (best 1)	Regulation of voltage gated	Loss of function	Kunzelmann et al. (2007), Burgess et al. (2008)
Doyne honeycomb macular dystrophy	EGF-containing fibulin-like extracellular matrix protein 1	Extracellular matrix protein of unknown function	Loss of function	Marmorstein et al. (2002)
Leber congenital amaurosis (LCA) and early onset	RPE65	Retinoid isomerase	Loss of function	Hamel et al. (1993), Chen et al. (2006) Takabashi et al. (2006)
retinal dystrophy (EORD)	AIPL1	Retina-specific co-chaperone	Loss of function	Ramamurthy et al. (2003), van der Spuy and Cheetham (2004)
Spinocerebellar ataxia 7	SCA7	Component of TFTC and STAGA transcription factor complexes	Gain of function	Bowman et al. (2005)
Stargardt disease	Elongase of very long chain fatty acids-4 (ELOVL4) ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporter A4 (ABCA4)	Elongation of very long chain fatty acids Transports <i>all-trans</i> retinal and/or derivatives across outer segment discs dependent manner	Gain of function and dominant negative Loss of function	Karan et al. (2004), Grayson and Molday (2005) Wiszniewski et al. (2005)
X-linked progressive retinal	RPGR (retinitis pigmentosa	Function unknown, protein	Loss of function	Zhang et al. (2002)
atrophy (XLPKA)	GIPASE REGULATOR)	axonemes and microtubular transport complexes		
X-linked retinoschisis	Retinoschisin (RS1)	Cell adhesion protein	Loss of function	Wang et al. (2002), Wu and Molday (2003)

Hsp70 chaperones (Saliba et al., 2002). Nevertheless, the basis of toxicity of class II rhodopsin mutations remains to be elucidated but it is likely that similar gain of function mechanisms apply as in other neurodegenerations (see Mendes et al., 2005 for more detail). Therefore, it is important that we consider the role of chaperones in opsin biogenesis and their role in opsin quality control and degradation.

2.3. Rod opsin interacts with multiple ER chaperones during biogenesis

The biogenesis and quality control of multi-spanning membrane proteins occurs at the ER. Certain steps in this pathway and the potential involvement of molecular chaperones are shown schematically in Fig. 3. The rod opsin signal sequence binds to the signal recognition particle (Audigier et al., 1987) directing the ribosome and the growing polypeptide to the ER membrane. This signal sequence is not cleaved (Friedlander and Blobel, 1985) and opsin inserts in the ER co-translationally (Kanner et al., 2002). The rod opsin transmembrane domains are thought to undergo active and passive displacement from the Sec61 translocon into the lipid bilayer (Ismail et al., 2006). PAT-10, a transmembrane specific chaperone, associates with the TM1 of rod opsin until the entire polypeptide chain has been translocated, either facilitating insertion or modulating the assembly of individual transmembrane domains (Meacock et al., 2002). Upon insertion into the ER membrane the N-terminal intradiscal domain of rod opsin is N-glycosylated at Asn₂ and Asn₁₅ by the oligosaccharyl transferase enzyme (Plantner et al., 1980; Kean, 1999). Glycans are known to be required for the association with lectin chaperones that can either assist in polypeptide folding or ER-associated degradation (ERAD) of a terminally misfolded protein. Glycan chains are required for efficient ERAD of misfolded rod opsin (Saliba et al., 2002). These data imply a role for lectin chaperones such as calnexin, calreticulin or EDEM in opsin quality control, but the specific lectin chaperones that regulate opsin ERAD remain to be identified. Other chaperones may also regulate opsin quality control. For example, Anukanth and Khorana (1994) showed that mutant opsins were found in a complex with the Hsp70 and Hsp90 chaperones of the ER, namely Grp78 (BiP), and Grp94.

An increase in BiP mRNA levels was induced in cells by P23H rod opsin expression compared to WT rod opsin or GFP expression, suggesting that the protein misfolding associated with class II rod opsin can induce the unfolded protein response (UPR) (Lin et al., 2007). However, in transgenic P23H rats, BiP mRNA levels decreased as the retina degenerated, whereas CHOP mRNA was induced (Lin et al., 2007). These data suggest that photoreceptors may be unable to adapt to the production of P23H rod opsin by upregulating their ER resident chaperones via the UPR. Sustained signaling through the PERK branch of the UPR is associated with the induction of the proapoptotic factor CHOP which may lead to cell death. Therefore, a failure of the chaperone



Fig. 3. The role of chaperones in rod opsin biogenesis, quality control and degradation. Schematic representation of rod opsin folding and misfolding. Rod opsin does not encode a cleaved amino-terminal signal sequence, but is still thought to enter the secretory pathway by co-translational or post-translational insertion into the ER via the ER translocon. The ER translocon is thought to align with the large ribosomal subunit to facilitate entry and prevent flow of ions from the ER. The ER Hsp70, BiP, located in the luminal side, assists with protein insertion by a 'ratchet mechanism' coupled to ATP hydrolysis. The Hsp40 protein Sec63 interacts with BiP through its J-domain and modulates BiP function (Misselwitz et al., 1998). Properly folded rod opsin, with the correct disulphide linkage (Hwa et al., 1999) will translocate to the Golgi for further processing. In contrast, mutant opsin is more likely to misfold and form the wrong disulphide bond (Hwa et al., 1999) and will be retained in the ER by resident chaperones such as Grp94 or BiP (Anukanth and Khorana, 1994). The misfolded rod opsin may also interact with HSJ1b in the cytoplasm and a lectin chaperone in the Cytoplasm following ERAD. If the ERAD machinery is overwhelmed, mutant opsin aggregates upon dislocation in the cytosol (Illing et al., 2002; Saliba et al., 2002). These aggregates, eventually forming visible inclusions. These inclusions and aggregates sequester cellular proteins, including molecular chaperones such as Hsp70 and HSJ1.

machinery to cope with misfolded opsin may directly lead to photoreceptor cell death.

Specific lectins for the maturation and processing of mammalian rod opsin have not yet been identified. Calnexin is required, however, for the maturation of the Drosophila rod opsin protein, Rh1, a homologue of mammalian rod opsin (Rosenbaum et al., 2006). Flies with premature stop codons in their cnx gene displayed reduced levels of cnx transcript with no detectable calnexin protein. These mutations severely reduced Rh1 protein levels, suggesting that Rh1 degradation was taking place. Furthermore, cnx mutant flies displayed age-related retinal degeneration as shown by reduced translocation of Rh1 to rhabdomeres 1-6 and reduced rhabdomere size. Calnexin also formed a stable complex with Rh1, consistent with its role as molecular chaperone (Rosenbaum et al., 2006). There may be, however, significant differences between Rh1 and mammalian rod opsin in this respect. An intact carbohydrate unit does not appear to be essential for the chromophoric properties of rhodopsin or for its regeneration (Renthal et al., 1973). Furthermore, Kaushal et al. (1994) showed that treatment of WT opsin with the glycosylation inhibitor, tunicamycin, resulted in non-glycosylated opsin, which translocated to the cell surface and formed the characteristic rhodopsin chromophore with 11-cis-retinal. On the other hand, treatment of P23H opsin expressing cells with tunicamycin led to P23H accumulation in the ER, suggesting that glycans are required for mutant rod opsin ERAD (Saliba et al., 2002). Other proteins that undergo ERAD have been shown to dislocate to the cytosol where they are deglycosylated by cytosolic N-glycanases, suggesting that the carbohydrates are recognized by lectins that mediate and process the misfolded polypeptides for degradation by the proteasome (Wiertz et al., 1996a, b; Petäjä-Repo et al., 2001; Gong et al., 2005). The actual targeting into ERAD of misfolded opsin could be mediated by chaperones that may not interact with normal folding intermediates. This is the case for the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) where Hsp90 is required for the folding of its large cytoplasmic domains but Hsp70 and Hsp40 are required for targeting it for degradation (Loo et al., 1998; Youker et al., 2004; Zhang et al., 2006).

Other evidence suggests that Rh1 and mammalian opsin may have different chaperone requirements. NinaA is an ER resident integral membrane peptidyl-prolyl isomerase (PPI) chaperone that is required for the maturation of Rh1 rhodopsin. NinaA mutant flies have very little Rh1 opsin in their rhabdomeres, with most of Rh1 immunoreactivity associated with ER membranes (Colley et al., 1991; Stamnes et al., 1991; Baker and Zuker, 1994). These findings suggest that NinaA activity is required for the transport of Rh1 from the ER. Furthermore, examination of NinaA mutants revealed reduced levels of rhodopsin and large accumulations of rough ER membranes (Colley et al., 1991). In contrast, heterologous expression of bovine rod opsin in Drosophila resulted in correctly folded and processed rod opsin even in the absence of NinaA (Ahmad et al., 2006). The reasons for this difference in chaperone requirement remains to be elucidated but may help in clarifying the role of chaperones in mammalian opsin biogenesis.

2.4. Non-ER chaperone opsin interactions

The retina is rich in chaperones and several could be involved in rod opsin biogenesis or the response to rod opsin misfolding. For example, almost 20 different crystallin genes have been identified in the retina (Xi et al., 2003). The crystallins can be divided into two major families, α and $\beta\gamma$ with α -crystallins being members of the sHsp family of molecular chaperones. In the retina, α -crystallin co-purified with post-Golgi membranes from frog photoreceptors and, therefore, could be involved in the transportation of newly synthesized rhodopsin, suggesting that these chaperones might participate in the renewal of the photoreceptor outer segment (Deretic et al., 1994).

In addition, specialized Hsp40 (DnaJ) proteins are expressed at relatively high levels in the retina compared to other tissues. HSJ1a and HSJ1b are neuronal Hsp40 proteins that are present in all layers of the neural retina and have distinct staining patterns, with HSI1b found to be enriched at the site of rhodopsin production (Chapple and Cheetham, 2003). Heterologous expression in cell culture showed that the HSI1b isoform increased the incidence of WT and P23H rod opsin inclusions, and increased the retention of the WT protein in the ER. This was not observed with HSJ1a or the C321S HSJ1b prenylation null mutant (Chapple and Cheetham, 2003). These Hsp40 proteins act as neuronal shuttling factors for the sorting of chaperone clients to the proteasome (Westhoff et al., 2005). HSJ1 proteins colocalized with rod opsin in inclusions, suggesting that they may be part of the opsin degradation pathway. The full significance of the interaction of HSI1 proteins with rod opsin remains to be determined; however, it is clear that the retina has specialized chaperones that are essential for normal vision.

2.5. Chaperone inducers and retinal protein misfolding disease

It is now widely accepted that chaperones can act as protectors of the proteome and may be manipulated to combat protein misfolding diseases. The over-expression of molecular chaperones can extend life span in the nematode and fruit fly (Tatar et al., 1997; Hsu et al., 2003). Molecular chaperones have been shown to suppress aggregate formation of mutant proteins that cause neurodegenerative diseases, such as spinocerebellar ataxia 1 (SCA1) (Cummings et al., 1998), spinal and bulbar muscular atrophy (SBMA) (Kobayashi et al., 2000), familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (FALS) (Takeuchi et al., 2002) and Huntington disease (Jana et al., 2000; Westhoff et al., 2005). Therefore, it may be possible to alleviate protein misfolding diseases by enhancing the expression of molecular chaperones using drugs. A chaperone inducer is a drug that can activate heat shock transcription factors (HSFs) and induce chaperone expression. Several drugs that can induce chaperones are now in clinical trials. For example, drugs based around the Hsp90 inhibitor geldanamycin, such as 17-allylamino-17-demethoxygeldanamycin (17-AAG), induce HSF activity. In a cell culture model of rhodopsin RP based on P23H rod opsin, treatment with 17-AAG led to a dose-dependent reduction of inclusion incidence. This correlated with an increase in cell viability and a reduction in caspase activation (H.F. Mendes and M.E. Cheetham, under review). Therefore, manipulation of chaperones either by drugs or by gene manipulation may be useful to treat photoreceptor protein misfolding diseases.

3. Putative chaperones as retinal disease genes

In the last 10 years the expanding list (http://www.sph.uth.tmc. edu/Retnet/home.htm) of retinal disease genes has identified several putative chaperone proteins as being essential either in the development or maintenance of a functional retina. These chaperones and putative chaperones are shown in Table 2. In contrast to ADRP, all of these diseases are caused by loss of protein function, highlighting that a lack of chaperone function can be critical to many aspects of photoreceptor cell biology.

3.1. RP2

X-linked RP (XLRP) is generally associated with the most severe forms of RP. Mutations in the *RP2* gene account for approximately 15% of all XLRP cases (Schwahn et al., 1998; Hardcastle et al., 1999; Miano et al., 2001). The RP2 protein is widely expressed in human tissues and does not appear to be enriched in retina (Chapple et al., 2000). As patients with *RP2* mutations appear to have only retinal pathology without any other organ involvement, it is not clear why the loss of RP2 leads specifically to RP. RP2 is a putative chaperone based on its homology to a previously identified chaperone in the tubulin folding pathway. RP2 is a 350 amino acid protein, which contains a homology domain of 151 amino acids (30% identity) to the tubulin cofactor C (TBCC). Most of the reported RP2 missense mutations correspond to this region and lie within the residues conserved with TBCC.

TBCC, together with other specific cofactor chaperones (tubulin cofactors A-E, TBCA, TBCB, TBCD and TBCE), acts downstream of the cytosolic chaperonin CCT in the tubulin folding pathway (Tian et al., 1996). Tubulin heterodimers cannot form without the assistance of molecular chaperones (Lewis et al., 1992; Yaffe et al., 1992). Once quasi-native α and β tubulin have been released from CCT, these cofactors facilitate the assembly of the α/β tubulin heterodimer and stimulate the GTPase activity of the β tubulin within the heterodimer, leading to the formation of native tubulin heterodimers (Tian et al., 1999). This process is regulated by ADP ribosylation factor-like 2 (Arl2) (Bhamidipati et al., 2000; Shern et al., 2003). Correct expression of the tubulin cofactors TBCC, TBCD and TBCE is vital, as mutations in these genes lead to a lack of microtubules and failure of cell division in Aradopsis (Steinborn et al., 2002, Kirik et al., 2002). In addition, TBCD also functions as a centrosomal protein. Over expression of TBCD in HeLa cells lead to the loss of gamma tubulin at the centrosomes and cells appeared compromised in their ability to nucleate microtubules. Whereas loss of TBCD caused failure of cytokinesis and an increase in cells with mitotic spindle defects (Cunningham and Kahn, 2008).

The similarity between RP2 and TBCC suggested a potential overlap in function. This hypothesis was supported by *in vitro* studies that demonstrated RP2, in conjunction with TBCD, could partly substitute for TBCC function as a tubulin-GTPase activating

Table 2

Retinal dystrophies associated with mutations in chaperones or co-chaperones

Disease	Disease gene	Phenotype	Chaperone system	Function/putative function	References
Bardet– Biedl Syndrome (BBS)	McKusick– Kaufman Syndrome (MKKS)/BBS6	Retinal degeneration Obesity Post-axial polydactyly	Type II chaperonin homology	Centrosomal protein, possibly involved in cilia/basal body function	Stone et al. (2000), Katsanis et al. (2000), Kim et al. (2005), Ross et al. (2005), Hirayama et al. (2007)
	BBS10	Retinal degeneration Obesity Cognitive impairment Genito-urinary tract malformations	Type II chaperonin homology	Centrosomal protein, possibly involved in cilia/basal body function or protein–protein interactions	Stoetzel et al. (2006)
	BBS12	Retinal degeneration Obesity Cognitive impairment Genito-urinary tract malformations	Type II chaperonin homology	Centrosomal protein, possibly involved in cilia/basal body function or protein–protein interactions	Stoetzel et al. (2007)
Leber congenital amaurosis (LCA)	Aryl hydrocarbon receptor interacting protein-like 1 (AIPL1)	Blindness at birth No detectable ERG Retinal dysfunction and degeneration	TPR protein, Hsp70/ Hsp90 co-chaperone	Modulation of NUB1 nuclear translocation; interaction with and facilitation of protein farnesylation; post- translational synthesis, biogenesis or assembly of phosphodiesterase (PDE) subunits	Sohoki et al. (2000), Ramamurthy et al. (2003, 2004), van der Spuy and Cheetham (2004, 2006), Liu et al. (2004), Hidalgo de Quintana et al. (2008)
NFM5a (<i>rd1</i> 3) mutant mouse	Prefoldin (PFDN) 5	Photoreceptor degeneration, abnormal outer segment development	PFD chaperone system	Actin and tubulin folding	Lee et al. (2006)
X-linked retinitis pigmentosa (XLRP)	RP2	Retinal degeneration	Homology to tubulin specific chaperone C (TBCC)	Plasma membrane localization, involvement in tubulin biogenesis	Schwahn et al. (1998), Chapple et al. (2000), Grayson et al. (2002)

protein (GAP) (Bartolini et al., 2002). Furthermore, a pathogenic mutation in the conserved arginine residue, R118H in RP2, abolished the tubulin GAP activity in both RP2 and cofactor C, suggesting that this residue could be an 'arginine finger', which triggers the tubulin GAP activity. However, RP2 was not able to replace TBCC in the tubulin heterodimerization reaction (Bartolini et al., 2002). Similarly, RP2 cannot be functionally substituted by TBCC, as TBCC does not compensate for RP2 in rods of XLRP patients (Grayson et al., 2002).

There are several clear differences between RP2 and TBCC. For example, RP2 is subject to posttranscriptional modification by myristoylation and palmitoylation at its N-terminus, which target RP2 to the plasma membrane (Chapple et al., 2000, 2002, 2003; Grayson et al., 2002). RP2 acylation is disrupted by a patient mutation deletion of serine 6 (Δ S6), which prevents the correct sub-cellular targeting of RP2. Therefore, aberrant post-translational modification and localization of RP2 might cause RP in these patients (Chapple et al., 2000). Furthermore, the C-termini of RP2 and TBCC are not similar. The C-terminus of RP2 shows structural similarity with nucleoside diphosphate kinase 1 (NDK1) (Evans et al., 2006; Kuhnel et al., 2006). NDKs catalyze the transfer of phosphates, mainly from ATP to cognate NDPs generating nucleoside triphosphates (NTPs), and can also have autophosphorylation activity from ATP and GTP (reviewed by Hasunama et al., 2003). Previously, NDK was shown to interact with Hsp70 (Leung and Hightower, 1997), while Hsp70, similar to NDK, exhibits an intrinsic ADP-ATP phosphorylation activity (Hiromura et al., 1998). Therefore, functionality of the RP2 C-terminal NDK domain could provide further evidence for molecular chaperone activity. RP2 does not have nucleoside diphosphate kinase activity, but it does share exonuclease activity with NDK 1 and 2 (Yoon et al., 2006). Furthermore, RP2 translocated to the nucleus upon induced DNA damage, potentially linking RP2 with the cellular stress response machinery (Yoon et al., 2006).

The only identified interaction partner of RP2 is the ADP ribosylation factor (Arf)-like protein Arl3 (Bartolini et al., 2002). The affinity of RP2 to GDP bound Arl3 is 400-fold weaker than to GTP-bound Arl3, indicating that RP2 is a bona fide effector of Arl3 (Kuhnel et al., 2006). Myristoylation of RP2 also decreases this affinity, leading to the proposal that Arl3 might interact with unmodified RP2 and facilitate RP2 targeting for acylation (Chapple et al., 2000; Bartolini et al., 2002; Kuhnel et al., 2006). Arl3 is a ubiquitous microtubule associated protein (MAP) and localized to the connecting cilium in photoreceptors (Grayson et al., 2002). The connecting cilium functions as a specialized sensory axoneme that extends from the cell body of the photoreceptor to form the outer segment. The link between retinal degeneration and dysfunction of this cilium has become increasingly evident, as many RP causing proteins, such as the retinitis pigmentosa GTPase regulator (RPGR), have been localized to cilia and shown to be essential for cilia function. RPGR is another major cause of XLRP (Meindl et al., 1996, reviewed by Adams et al., 2007) and RPGR is anchored to the connecting cilium by another retinal disease gene product the RPGR-interacting protein (RPGRIP), a structural component of the ciliary axoneme (Hong et al., 2001). Interestingly, Arl3 interacts with the phosphodiesterase delta (PDE δ), which is also an interacting partner of RPGR (Linari et al., 1999a, b). The significance of these protein interactions remains to be clarified.

Arl3 may have other cytoskeletal functions, especially as the protein is present at microtubule-rich structures, such as centrosomes, mitotic spindle and midbodies, in a wide variety of cell lines. In addition, Arl3 knock-down in HeLa cells caused increased acetylation of alpha-tubulin, leading to failure of cytokinesis and an increased number of binucleated cells (Zhou et al., 2006).

As yet, Arl3 has not been shown to cause retinal dystrophy in humans, but studies in mice deficient in Arl3, revealed that this protein is essential for photoreceptor and kidney development (Schrick et al., 2006). Arl3 knock-out mice showed abnormal epithelial cell proliferation and cyst formation in kidney, liver and pancreas, in the retina there was photoreceptor degeneration (Schrick et al., 2006). Overall, this phenotype is consistent with a failure of function or signal transduction in primary cilia. The formation of cilia is coordinated with progression through the cell cycle via specific signaling pathways and there is growing evidence that defects in these pathways cause proliferative diseases, such as cystic disorders in kidney, liver and pancreas (reviewed by Quarmby and Parker, 2005). The link between Arl3 and cilia function, however, strengthen the notion that RP2 may be required for specialized elements of the cytoskeleton in photoreceptors.

Further evidence for a relationship of RP2 and cilia function was obtained when a homologue of TBCC and RP2 was identified in trypanosomes (TbRP2). Ablation of TbRP2 caused shortened flagella and defective axonemal microtubule formation, but had no effect on other microtubule structures or functions including spindle formation. TbRP2 localized to the mature basal body of the flagellum, suggesting flagellum specific functions of the protein. One of these functions appears to be the recruitment and possibly monitoring the quality of carboxyl-tyrosinated alpha tubulin prior to cilia assembly (Stephan et al., 2007). These findings suggest that RP2 may cause XLRP through problems in assembly and chaperoning of components of the primary cilia. However, there are striking structural differences between the RP2 protein in humans and trypanosomes. For example, TbRP2 lacks the C-terminal NDK domain, as well as the N-terminal dual acylation motif, both of which are likely to contribute to RP2 function as patient mutations compromise these motifs. These differences might be crucial to explain why the RP2 phenotype is restricted to the retina, despite the ubiquitous expression of the protein and importance of cilia in other organs. The importance of specialized chaperones in cilia function, however, is now becoming clear through the identification of causative genes in cilia diseases or 'ciliopathies'.

3.2. Bardet-Biedl Syndrome (BBS) proteins

Bardet–Biedl Syndrome is a pleiotropic, genetically heterogeneous disorder caused by defects in primary cilia and/or basal body proteins in several organs. The BBS genes identified to date show limited structural and functional similarities despite the fact that mutations in BBS genes give rise to the same undistinguishable phenotype. Generally patients suffer from retinal dystrophy, renal dysplasia, postaxial polydactyly, obesity and hypogonadism with infertility in males [OMIM 209900].

Since the first BBS gene (BBS6) was identified in 2000 (Slavotinek et al., 2000; Katsanis et al., 2000), 12 genes (BBS1-12) have been identified. BBS1 and BBS10 are the most common BBS loci, accounting for 23–56 and 20% of mutations, respectively (reviewed by Blacque and Leroux, 2006). To date no correlation between genotype and phenotype has been established.

BBS1, BBS2 and BBS7 proteins have predicted beta-propeller domains, which are common motifs implicated in a variety of functions, such as enzyme catalysis, scaffolding and signaling, ligand binding and transport, as well as mediation of protein-protein interactions (Jawad and Paoli, 2002). Interestingly, many beta propeller domain proteins (such as $G\beta$) are clients for

chaperonin based protein folding, presumably because of particular structural requirements of this type of fold (Kubota et al., 2006). Several good animal models of BBS have been produced. For example, the BBS1 (M390R) knock-in mouse model presented with retinal degeneration, decreased olfaction, obesity and lack of sperm flagella, resembling phenotypes of other BBS mouse models. The BBS1 mutant knock-in mice showed severe photoreceptor degeneration with disrupted morphology and orientation of outer segment membranes (Davis et al., 2007). In addition, many BBS patients suffer from hypoosmia or anosmia, indicating lack or dysfunction of olfactory sensory cilia. This hypothesis has been confirmed using mice which lack BBS1 or BBS4. These mice showed a reduction in the olfactory ciliated border, as well as defects in dendritic microtubule organization and trapping of olfactory cilia proteins in dendrites and cell bodies (Kulaga et al., 2004, reviewed by Fliegauf et al., 2007).

Interestingly, the BBS3 gene encodes the Arl6 protein, which like Arl2 and Arl3 is a member of the Arf subfamily of Ras related proteins (Fan et al., 2004). Unfortunately, not much is known about the function of Arl6, but a worm orthologue of the protein is expressed in sensory neurons and is proposed to traffic along cilia by intraflagellar transport (IFT), supporting a role for Arl6 in cilia function (reviewed by Kahn et al., 2005).

In a recent study, seven BBS proteins (BBS1, BBS2, BBS4, BBS5, BBS7, BBS8 and BBS9) were shown to form a biochemically stable protein complex, the 'BBSome' (Nachury et al., 2007). This complex transiently associated with pericentriolar material 1 (PCM-1) and alpha tubulin, as well as localizing to the membrane of the primary cilium. Knock-down of BBS1 and BBS5 affected ciliogenesis by interfering with membrane trafficking to the cilium. In addition, Rabin8 a guanosyl exchange factor for Rab8, which facilitates vesicular trafficking between different compartments, was associated with the BBSome. Therefore, BBS proteins may function in membrane trafficking in the primary cilium (Nachury et al., 2007). These data led to the proposal that the genetic complexity of BBS can be reduced to two highly conserved entities, the core BBSome and the small GTPase Arl6/BBS3, while all other BBS genes are limited to chordates and are possibly regulators of the BBSome or Arl6/BBS3 (Nachury et al., 2007). Curiously, the BBS genes excluded from the BBSome, BBS6, BBS10 and BBS12 are all limited to the vertebrate lineage (or possibly chordates for BBS6) and define a divergent branch of chaperoninlike proteins (Kim et al., 2005; Stoetzel et al., 2006, 2007).

Sequence analysis of BBS12 showed that BBS12, together with BBS6 and BBS10 are similar to type II chaperonins. All three proteins have a typical chaperonin-like organization, encompassing the three major functional domains: equatorial, intermediate and apical. However, compared to prototypic type II chaperonins BBS6, BBS10 and BBS12 contain specific insertions in the equatorial and the apical domains. Here BBS12 shares with BBS6 the same insertions in the core chaperonin fold of the equatorial domain and with BBS10 in the apical domain. Given the structural constraints introduced by the additional domains it was predicted that it is unlikely that BBS6, BBS10 and BBS12 are involved in the assembly of a prototypic chaperone complex similar to CCT (Stoetzel et al., 2006, 2007). However, the presence of additional domains within the proteins might confer a specific binding or protein folding capacity to these BBS proteins, which is lacking in other type II chaperonins.

This might be especially important as BBS6 and BBS12 lack several residues critical for ATP binding and hydrolysis, which are important in other chaperonins for protein folding (Kim et al., 2005; Stoetzel et al., 2007). In contrast to BBS6 and BBS12, the functional motif for ATP hydrolysis is conserved in BBS10, suggesting that BBS10 might function as an active enzyme (Stoetzel et al., 2006). These findings highlight an important role of atypical type II chaperonins in the pathogenesis of the disease, since these three BBS genes account for approximately 30% of BBS mutations (Stoetzel et al., 2007).

Suppression of either BBS6, BBS10 or BBS12 in zebrafish yielded gastrulation-movement defects characteristic of other BBS morphants, whereas simultaneous suppression of all three chaperonin-like BBS proteins resulted in severely affected embryos, possibly hinting at a partial functional redundancy within this protein family (Stoetzel et al., 2007).

BBS6 and BBS10 (and possibly BBS12) are centrosomal proteins (Stoetzel et al., 2007) and BBS6 expression is required for cytokinesis (Kim et al., 2005). In addition, knock-down of BBS6 has been implicated in planar cell polarity (PCP) defects (Ross et al., 2005). The fact that BBS6, BBS10 and BBS12 arose only in the vertebrate lineage, whilst architecture and function of the basal body and cilium have been conserved rigorously during evolution might indicate the acquisition of novel cilia functions and/or requirements coincident with the emergence of these particular type II chaperonins. The three BBS proteins might have co-evolved with vertebrate specific proteins, which are involved in basal body and/or cilia assembly and function. Structural analysis of BBS6 revealed that the protein might function as a subunit of a novel hetero-oligomeric type II chaperonin (Chapple et al., 2001). Due to the similarity between BBS6, BBS10 and BBS12, it seems feasible to speculate that these three BBS proteins could form a larger, multi-subunit complex, possibly in conjunction with other, yet unknown proteins. Therefore, studies addressing whether BBS6 alone or together with BBS10 and BBS12 forms a novel chaperonin complex could provide further insights into disease pathogenesis and lead to the identification of new chaperonin client proteins, which might represent causative BBS genes.

3.3. Prefoldin 5

Prefoldin (PFDN, also termed GimC complex, genes involved in microtubule biogenesis complex) is a heterohexameric chaperone that cooperates in the folding of nascent protein chains with cytosolic chaperonin CCT. The interaction of PFDN with nonnative protein chains protects them from aggregation and degradation until their transfer to CCT, where the final protein folding steps occur (Vainberg et al., 1998). Therefore, PFDN can be considered to function as a co-chaperonin, even though its role seems to be different from so-called classical co-chaperonins, such as GroES, which acts as a cap for the GroEL cylinder. PFDN is a 90 kDa complex, comprising two alpha and four beta subunits, which form a jellyfish-like structure (Fig. 1). PFDN binds the exposed hydrophobic residues of unfolded proteins via a so-called hydrophobic groove at the distal end of one of the mobile beta subunits. Following β subunit–client interaction the α subunits change their conformations and positions. This leads to an adjustment of the width of the central PFDN cavity depending on the mass of the bound substrate (Ohtaki et al., 2007).

The major targets for PFDN binding are considered to be actin, as well as α and β tubulin. The binding of unfolded actin and PFDN results in a conformational change of the actin protein giving rise to a rod-like shaped protein, which is then recognized by CCT. It seems likely that the unfolded actin chain requires folding into a quasi-native conformation before an interaction with CCT can occur. In addition, PFDN does not release the pre-folded protein into the cytosol, but physically interacts with CCT, forming a PFDN:client:CCT complex (Martin-Benito et al., 2002; Zako et al., 2005).

Interestingly, introduction of a point mutation in the prefoldin 5 (*PFDN5*) gene was reported to cause abnormal photoreceptor outer segment development in a recessive mouse model of retinal

dystrophy (NMF5a corresponding to rd13) (Lee et al., 2006; Abstract presented at the Association for Research and Vision 2006, Poster no. 2296). This mutation, which was introduced by ENU mutagenesis, leads to the amino acid substitution L110R in PFDN5. In the mutant mice outer and inner segment cell thickness was reduced compared to WT littermate controls. In addition, rhodopsin and rom1, a protein important for regulation of morphogenesis and stabilization of the outer segment, were mislocalized in the mutant mice. These findings suggest that transport via the connecting cilium to the outer segment might be impaired or poorly developed in the PFD mutant mice. The cytoskeleton of the connecting cilium consists mainly of microtubules and actin fibres, which are crucial for transport of molecules from the outer segment and morphogenesis of the outer segment disk membranes, respectively. Since microtubules and actin are the main client proteins of PFDN binding it seems likely that mutations in PFDN5 impair the correct folding of vital components of the connecting cilium, compromising its integrity. However, this hypothesis does not explain why the observed phenotype of the PFDN5 mutation is mainly retinal. Further characterization of this mouse model may reveal novel chaperone roles for PFDN in the retina, possibly by interacting with retina specific proteins or other molecules relevant for retinal function.

3.4. AIPL1

Leber congenital amaurosis (LCA) is a genetically heterogeneous, inherited retinopathy characterized by rapid degeneration of rod and cone photoreceptors shortly after birth (Sohocki et al., 2000). Blindness normally occurs within the first year of life, making this the most severe form of inherited retinal dystrophy. LCA has been shown to be caused by mutations in the photoreceptor and pineal-specific aryl hydrocarbon receptor interacting protein-like 1 (*AIPL1*) (Sohocki et al., 2000), and investigations are currently aimed at dissecting the normal functions of this protein.

AIPL1 is expressed in both rod and cone photoreceptors of the developing retina (van der Spuy et al., 2003) but is restricted to rods in the adult retina (van der Spuy et al., 2002). The reason for this developmental switch is unclear but indicates an important role of AIPL1 in mature rod cell function, in addition to a role in functional development of the human retina. AIPL1 was named due to its homology (49% identity) with the Aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR)-interacting protein (AIP), also known as the human X-associated protein 2 (XAP2) or AhR-activated 9 (AhR9) (Kuzhandaivelu et al., 1996; Carver and Bradfield, 1997; Ma and Whitlock, 1997). AIP is a co-chaperone similar to the immunophilins (FKBP51/52), which interact with the Hsp90 chaperone machinery through their tetratricopeptide (TPR) motif to promote the functional maturation of their respective client proteins, the AhR and the steroid hormone receptors. AIPL1 has 3 TPR motifs (van der Spuy, 2006). The conservation of the TPR domain in AIPL1 suggests that it may function as a retina-specific co-chaperone involved in the regulation of cognate clients in an analogous manner to AIP. Indeed, it has recently been shown that AIPL1 interacts with both Hsp90 and Hsp70, and that disease-causing mutations within the TPR domains diminish these associations (Hidalgo de Quintana et al., 2008).

Several potential AIPL1 client proteins have been identified, through a combination of yeast two hybrid screens and analyses of animal models. One potential client is the widely expressed NEDD8 ultimate buster 1 (NUB1), which has been identified as an AIPL1-interacting protein (Akey et al., 2002). NUB1 is predominantly a nuclear protein involved in orchestrating the proteasomal degradation of the ubiquitin-like proteins NEDD8 and FAT10 and



Fig. 4. Potential roles of AIPL1 in photoreceptors. Schematic representation showing potential roles of AIPL1 within photoreceptors. AIPL1 is able to modulate the nuclear localization of NUB1, which may affect the NUB1 NEDD8 and FAT10 'busting' activity (1); AIPL1 interacts with and enhances stability of the PDE holoenzyme (2); AIPL1 may enhance transport and stability of farnesylated proteins to the ER (3) or other target membranes (4). AIPL1 is likely to utilize the Hsp70 and Hsp90 chaperone machinery to execute its cellular functions.

their cellular targets (Kito et al., 2001; van der Spuy et al., 2003; Hipp et al., 2004). It appears to function as an adaptor protein for the proteasome through associations mediated by its ubiquitinlike (UBL) and ubiquitin-associated (UBA) domains. Interestingly, AIPL1 was shown to modulate the nuclear translocation of NUB1 in a manner analogous to the action of AIP on the AhR (van der Spuy and Cheetham, 2004) (Fig. 4). In addition, AIPL1 acted like a chaperone to suppress the aggregation of NUB1 fragments into inclusion bodies. This effect was specific for NUB1, as it had no effect on inclusion formation of other aggregation-prone proteins, such as P23H rod opsin or a mutant polyglutamine expanded huntingtin fragment (van der Spuy and Cheetham, 2004). More recently, AIPL1 was shown to cooperate with Hsp70 in reducing the formation of NUB1 fragment inclusions (Hidalgo de Quintana et al., 2008). It will also be of interest to determine whether AIPL1 can affect the NUB1-mediated proteasomal degradation of free and conjugated NEDD8 and FAT10 (Fig. 4). Both of these small ubiquitin-like proteins have been implicated in cell cycle regulation, suggesting that AIPL1 may regulate photoreceptor growth and development through modulating NUB1 activity, although animal models of AIPL1 LCA suggest that AIPL1 is not required for photoreceptor development and differentiation *per se* (Dyer et al., 2004; Ramamurthy et al., 2004; Liu et al., 2004).

AIPL1 has also been shown to interact with and enhance processing of the farnesylated proteins γ -transducin and the Hsp40 protein HDJ2 (Ramamurthy et al., 2003). Retinal lysates from AIPL1 knockout and hypomorphic mice, however, did not show global defects in farnesylation, but a specific reduction in rod cGMP phosphodiesterase (PDE), a farnesylated heterotrimeric protein complex that plays an essential role in visual phototransduction (Ramamurthy et al., 2004; Liu et al., 2004). Importantly, all three subunits of the PDE holoenzyme (PDE α , β and γ) were down-regulated at the protein but not mRNA level prior to disease progression, suggesting AIPL1 may play a role in the synthesis, assembly and/or stabilization of the PDE protein complex. In this case, PDE may represent a retina-specific client of AIPL1, whereby AIPL1 interacts specifically with $PDE\alpha$ and enhances its farnesylation, protecting it from proteasomal degradation. Given that AIPL1 also interacts with Hsp90 and Hsp70 (Hidalgo de Quintana et al., 2008), the resulting chaperone heterocomplex may be involved in the facilitation of PDE assembly or quality control of the subunits (Fig. 4). In any case, the list of retina-specific client proteins that mediate AIPL1 chaperone function remains to be completed, and future studies are likely to reveal interesting new insights into the retina-specific chaperone activities of AIPL1.

4. Conclusions

The retina offers a unique opportunity to study molecular chaperone function in a highly specialized and accessible part of the CNS. Several retinal dystrophy genes have mutations that make the proteins misfold and aggregation prone. The availability of good *in vitro* and *in vivo* models will allow the dissection of the mechanisms of cell death associated with these misfolding events and testing of therapies based on manipulating molecular chaperones. The importance of chaperones to retinal function is reiterated by the multiplicity of diseases caused by loss of specific chaperones. Studying these chaperones in more detail may enhance our understanding, not only of photoreceptor function, but also the biology of chaperone networks.

Acknowledgements

The Wellcome Trust, MRC, British Retinitis Pigmentosa Society, BBSRC, Action Medical Research and Fight for Sight support research in the Cheetham laboratory. M.K. is a Fight for Sight Ph.D. student.

Note added in proof

Veltel et al. (2008) recently showed that RP2 could act as a GAP for Arl3, suggesting that it is a negative regulator as opposed to an effector.

References

- Adams, N., Awadein, A., Toma, H., 2007. The retinal ciliopathies. Ophthalmol. Genet. 28, 113–125.
- Aherne, A., Kennan, A., Kenna, P.F., McNally, N., Lloyd, D.G., Alberts, I.L., Kiang, A.S., Humphries, M.M., Ayuso, C., Engel, P.C., Gu, J.J., Mitchell, B.S., Farrar, G.J., Humphries, P., 2004. On the molecular pathology of neurodegeneration in IMPDH1-based retinitis pigmentosa. Hum. Mol. Genet. 13, 641–650.
- Ahmad, S.T., Natochin, M., Barren, B., Artemyev, N.O., O'Tousa, J.E., 2006. Heterologous expression of bovine rhodopsin in Drosophila photoreceptor cells. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 47, 3722–3728.
- Akey, D.T., Zhu, X., Dyer, M., Li, A., Sorensen, A., Blackshaw, S., Fukuda-Kamitani, T., Daiger, S.P., Craft, C.M., Kamitani, T., Sohocki, M.M., 2002. The inherited blindness associated protein AIPL1 interacts with the cell cycle regulator protein NUB1. Hum. Mol. Genet. 11, 2723–2733.
- Ali, M.M., Roe, S.M., Vaughan, C.K., Meyer, P., Panaretou, B., Piper, P.W., Prodromou, C., Pearl, L.H., 2006. Crystal structure of an Hsp90–nucleotide–p23/Sba1 closed chaperone complex. Nature 440, 1013–1017.
- Andreotti, A.H., 2003. Native state proline isomerization: an intrinsic molecular switch. Biochemistry 42, 9515–9524.
- Anukanth, A., Khorana, H.G., 1994. Structure and function in rhodopsin: requirements of a specific structure for the intradiscal domain. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 19738–19744.
- Applebury, M.L., Hargrave, P.A., 1986. Molecular biology of the visual pigments. Vision Res. 26, 1881–1895.
- Audigier, Y., Friedlander, M., Blobel, G., 1987. Multiple topogenic sequences in bovine opsin. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 84, 5783–5787.
- Baker, E.K., Zuker, C.S., 1994. The cyclophilin homolog *NinaA* functions as a chaperone, forming a stable complex *in vivo* with its protein target rhodopsin. EMBO J. 13, 4886–4895.
- Bartolini, F., Bhamidipati, A., Thomas, S., Schwahn, U., Lewis, S.A., Cowan, N.J., 2002. Functional overlap between retinitis pigmentosa 2 protein and the tubulinspecific chaperone cofactor c. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 14629–14634.
- Bhamidipati, A., Lewis, S.A., Cowan, N.J., 2000. ADP ribosylation factor-like protein 2 (Arl2) regulates the interaction of tubulin-folding cofactor D with native tubulin. J. Cell Biol. 149, 1087–1096.
- Blacque, O., Leroux, M., 2006. Bardet–Biedl syndrome: an emerging pathomechanism of intracellular transport. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 63, 2145–2161.

- Bonapace, G., Waheed, A., Shah, G.N., Sly, W.S., 2004. Chemical chaperones protect from effects of apoptosis-inducing mutation in carbonic anhydrase IV identified in retinitis pigmentosa 17. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 101, 12300–12305.
- Bowman, A.B., Yoo, S.Y., Dantuma, N.P., Zoghbi, H.Y., 2005. Neuronal dysfunction in a polyglutamine disease model occurs in the absence of ubiquitin–proteasome system impairment and inversely correlates with the degree of nuclear inclusion formation. Hum. Mol. Genet. 14, 679–691.
- Braig, K., Otwinowski, Z., Hegde, R., Boisvert, D.C., Joachimiak, A., Horwich, A.L., Sigler, P.B., 1994. The crystal structure of the bacterial chaperonin GroEL at 2.8 A. Nature 371, 578–586.
- Burgess, R., Millar, I.D., Leroy, B.P., Urquhart, J.E., Fearon, I.M., De, B.E., Brown, P.D., Robson, A.G., Wright, G.A., Kestelyn, P., Holder, G.E., Webster, A.R., Manson, F.D., Black, G.C., 2008. Biallelic mutation of BEST1 causes a distinct retinopathy in humans. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 82, 19–31.
- Carver, L.A., Bradfield, C.A., 1997. Ligand-dependent interaction of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor with a novel immunophilin homolog in vivo. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 11452–11456.
- Chapple, J.P., Cheetham, M.E., 2003. The chaperone environment at the cytoplasmic face of the endoplasmic reticulum can modulate rhodopsin processing and inclusion formation. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 19087–19094.
- Chapple, J.P., Hardcastle, A.J., Grayson, C., Spackman, L.A., Willison, K.R., Cheetham, M.E., 2000. Mutations in the N-terminus of the X-linked retinitis pigmentosa protein RP2 interfere with the normal targeting of the protein to the plasma membrane. Hum. Mol. Genet. 9, 1919–1926.
- Chapple, J.P., Grayson, C., Hardcastle, A.J., Saliba, R.S., van der Spuy, J., Cheetham, M.E., 2001. Unfolding retinal dystrophies: a role for molecular chaperones? Trends Mol. Med. 7, 414–421.
- Chapple, J.P., Hardcastle, A.J., Grayson, C., Willison, K.R., Cheetham, M.E., 2002. Delineation of the plasma membrane targeting domain of the X-linked retinitis pigmentosa protein RP2. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 43, 2015–2020.
- Chapple, J.P., Grayson, C., Hardcastle, A., Bailey, T., Matter, K., Adamson, P., Graham, C., Willison, K.R., Cheetham, M.E., 2003. Organization on the plasma membrane of the retinitis pigmentosa protein RP2: investigation of association with detergent-resistant membranes and polarized sorting. Biochem. J. 372, 427–433.
- Cheetham, M.E., Caplan, A.J., 1998. Structure, function and evolution of DnaJ: conservation and adaptation of chaperone function. Cell Stress Chaperones 3, 28–36.
- Chen, Y., Moiseyev, G., Takahashi, Y., Ma, J.X., 2006. Impacts of two point mutations of RPE65 from Leber's congenital amaurosis on the stability, subcellular localization and isomerohydrolase activity of RPE65. FEBS Lett. 580, 4200–4204.
- Colley, N.J., Baker, E.K., Stamnes, M.A., Zuker, C.S., 1991. The cyclophilin homolog ninaA is required in the secretory pathway. Cell 67, 255–263.
- Collinge, J., Clarke, A.R., 2007. A general model of prion strains and their pathogenicity. Science 318, 930–936.
- Connell, P., Ballinger, C.A., Jiang, J., Wu, Y., Thompson, L.J., Hohfeld, J., Patterson, C., 2001. The co-chaperone CHIP regulates protein triage decisions mediated by heat-shock proteins. Nat. Cell Biol. 3, 93–96.
- Cummings, C.J., Mancini, M.A., Antalffy, B., DeFranco, D.B., Orr, H.T., Zoghbi, H.Y., 1998. Chaperone suppression of aggregation and altered subcellular proteasome localization imply protein misfolding in SCA1. Nat. Genet. 19, 148–154.
- Cunningham, L.A., Kahn, R.A., 2008. Cofactor D functions as a centrosomal protein and is required for the recruitment of the gamma-tubulin ring complex at centrosomes and organization of the mitotic spindle. J. Biol. Chem. [Epub ahead of print].
- Daiger, S.P., Bowne, S.J., Sullivan, L.S., 2007. Perspective on genes and mutations causing retinitis pigmentosa. Arch. Ophthalmol. 125, 151–158.
- Davis, R., Swiderski, R.E., Rahmouni, K., Nishimura, D.Y., Mullins, R.F., Agassandian, K., Philp, A., Searby, C., Andrews, M., Thompson, S., Berry, C., Thedens, D., Yang, B., Weiss, R., Cassell, M., Stone, E.M., Sheffield, V.C., 2007. A knockin mouse model of the Bardet–Biedl syndrome 1 M390R mutation has cilia defects, ventriculomegaly, retinopathy, and obesity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 104, 19422–19427.
- Deretic, D., Aebersold, R.H., Morrison, H.D., Papermaster, D.S., 1994. Alpha A- and alpha B-crystallin in the retina. Association with the post-Golgi compartment of frog retinal photoreceptors. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 16853–16861.
- Dobson, C.M., 2004. Principles of protein folding, misfolding and aggregation. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 15, 3–16.
- Dryja, T.P., McGee, T.L., Reichel, E., Hahn, L.B., Cowley, G.S., Yandell, D.W., Sandberg, M.A., Berson, E.L., 1990. A point mutation of the rhodopsin gene in one form of retinitis pigmentosa. Nature 343, 364–366.
- Dyer, M.A., Donovan, S.A., Zhang, J., Gray, J., Ortiz, A., Tenney, R., Kong, J., Allikmets, R., Sohocki, M.M., 2004. Retinal degeneration in AIPL1-deficient mice: a new genetic model of Leber congenital amaurosis. Brain Res. Mol. Brain Res. 132, 208–220.
- Ehrnsperger, M., Lilie, H., Gaestel, M., Buchner, J., 1999. The dynamics of Hsp25 quaternary structure. Structure and function of different oligomeric species. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 14867–14874.
- Ellgaard, L., Helenius, A., 2003. Quality control in the endoplasmic reticulum. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 4, 181–191.
- Ellis, R.J., 2006. Molecular chaperones: assisting assembly in addition to folding. Trends Biochem. Sci. 31, 395–401.
- Ellis, R.J., Hartl, F.U., 1999. Principles of protein folding in the cellular environment. Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 9, 102–110.

- Evans, R.J., Hardcastle, A.J., Cheetham, M.E., 2006. Focus on molecules: X-linked Retinitis Pigmentosa 2 protein, RP2. Exp. Eye Res. 82, 543–544.
- Fan, Y., Esmail, M.A., Ansley, S.J., Blacque, O.E., Boroevich, K., Ross, A.J., Moore, S.J., Badano, J.L., May-Simera, H., Compton, D.S., Green, J.S., Lewis, R.A., van Haelst, M.M., Parfrey, P.S., Baillie, D.L., Beales, P.L., Katsanis, N., Davidson, W.S., Leroux, M.R., 2004. Mutations in a member of the Ras superfamily of small GTPbinding proteins causes Bardet–Biedl syndrome. Nat. Genet. 36, 989–993.
- Fliegauf, M., Benzing, T., Omran, H., 2007. When cilia go bad: cilia defects and ciliopathies. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 8, 880–893.
- Frederick, J.M., Krasnoperova, N.V., Hoffmann, K., Church-Kopish, J., Ruther, K., Howes, K., Lem, J., Baehr, W., 2001. Mutant rhodopsin transgene expression on a null background. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 42, 826–833.
- Friedlander, M., Blobel, G., 1985. Bovine opsin has more than one signal sequence. Nature 318, 338–343.
- Frydman, J., Nimmesgern, E., Ohtsuka, K., Hartl, F.U., 1994. Folding of nascent polypeptide chains in a high molecular mass assembly with molecular chaperones. Nature 370, 111–117.
- Gidalevitz, T., Ben-Zvi, A., Ho, K.H., Brignull, H.R., Morimoto, R.I., 2006. Progressive disruption of cellular protein folding in models of polyglutamine diseases. Science 311, 1471–1474.
- Gong, Q., Molinari, M., Zhou, Z., 2005. Degradation of trafficking-defective long QT Syndrome type II mutant channels by the ubiquitin–proteasome pathway. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 19419–19425.
- Grayson, C., Molday, R.S., 2005. Dominant negative mechanism underlies autosomal dominant Stargardt-like macular dystrophy linked to mutations in ELOVL4. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 32521–32530.
- Grayson, C., Bartolini, F., Chapple, J.P., Willison, K.R., Bhamidipati, A., Lewis, S.A., Luthert, P.J., Hardcastle, A.J., Cowan, N.J., Cheetham, M.E., 2002. Localization in the human retina of the X-linked retinitis pigmentosa protein RP2, its homologue cofactor C and the RP2 interacting protein Arl3. Hum. Mol. Genet. 11, 3065–3074.
- Hamel, C.P., Tsilou, E., Pfeffer, B.A., Hooks, J.J., Detrick, B., Redmond, T.M., 1993. Molecular cloning and expression of RPE65, a novel retinal pigment epithelium-specific microsomal protein that is post-transcriptionally regulated in vitro. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 15751–15757.
- Hardcastle, A., Thiselton, D., van Maldergem, L., Saha, B., Jay, M., Plant, C., Taylor, R., Bird, A., Bhattacharya, S., 1999. Mutations in the RP2 gene cause disease in 10% of families with familial X-linked retinitis pigmentosa assessed in this study. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 64, 1210–1215.
- Hartl, F.U., Hayer-Hartl, M., 2002. Molecular chaperones in the cytosol: from nascent chain to folded protein. Science 295, 1852–1858.
- Haslbeck, M., 2002. sHsps and their role in the chaperone network. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 59, 1649–1657.
- Haslbeck, M., Walke, S., Stromer, T., Ehrnsperger, M., White, H.E., Chen, S., Saibil, H.R., Buchner, J., 1999. Hsp26: a temperature-regulated chaperone. EMBO J. 18, 6744–6751.
- Hasunama, K., Yabe, N., Yoshida, Y., Ogura, Y., Hamada, T., 2003. Putative functions of nucleoside diphosphate kinase in plants and fungi. J. Bioenerg. Biomembr. 35, 57–65.
- Hennessy, F., Nicoll, W.S., Zimmermann, R., Cheetham, M.E., Blatch, G.L., 2005. Not all J domains are created equal: implications for the specificity of Hsp40–Hsp70 interactions. Protein Sci. 14, 1697–1709.
- Hidalgo de Quintana, J., Evans, R.J., Cheetham, M.E., van der Spuy, J., 2008. The Leber congenital amaurosis protein AIPL1 functions as part of a chaperone heterocomplex. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci., in press, doi:10.1167/ iovs.07-1576.
- Hipp, M.S., Raasi, S., Groettrup, M., Schmidtke, G., 2004. NEDD8 ultimate buster-1L interacts with the ubiquitin-like protein FAT10 and accelerates its degradation. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 16503–16510.
- Hirayama, S., Yamazaki, Y., Kitamura, A., Oda, Y., Morito, D., Okawa, K., Kimura, H., Cyr, D.M., Kubota, H., and Nagata, K., 2007. MKKS is a centrosome-shuttling protein degraded by disease-causing mutations via CHIP-mediated ubiquitination. Mol. Biol. Cell [Epub ahead of print].
- Hiromura, M., Yano, M., Mori, H., Inoue, M., Kido, H., 1998. Intrinsic ADP-ATP exchange activity is a novel function of the molecular caperone, Hsp70. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 5435–5438.
- Hohfeld, J., Jentsch, S., 1997. GrpE-like regulation of the hsc70 chaperone by the anti-apoptotic protein BAG-1. EMBO J. 16, 6209–6216.
- Hong, D.H., Yue, G., Adamian, M., Li, T., 2001. Retinitis Pigmentosa GTPase Regulator (RPGR)-interacting protein is stably associated with the photoreceptor ciliary axoneme and anchors RPGR to the connecting cilium. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 12091–12099.
- Horwich, A.L., Fenton, W.A., Chapman, E., Farr, G.W., 2007. Two families of chaperonin: physiology and mechanism. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 23, 115–145.
- Hsu, A.L., Murphy, C.T., Kenyon, C., 2003. Regulation of aging and age-related disease by DAF-16 and heat-shock factor. Science 300, 1142–1145.
- Hwa, J., Reeves, P.J., Klein-Seetharaman, J., Davidson, F., Khorana, H.G., 1999. Structure and function in rhodopsin: further elucidation of the role of the intradiscal cysteines, Cys-110, -185, and -187, in rhodopsin folding and function. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 96, 1932–1935.
- Illing, M.E., Rajan, R.S., Bence, N.F., Kopito, R.R., 2002. A rhodopsin mutant linked to autosomal dominant retinitis pigmentosa is prone to aggregate and interacts with the ubiquitin proteasome system. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 34150–34160.
- Ismail, N., Crawshaw, S.G., High, S., 2006. Active and passive displacement of transmembrane domains both occur during opsin biogenesis at the Sec61 translocon. J. Cell Sci. 119, 2826–2836.

- Jana, N.R., Tanaka, M., Wang, G., Nukina, N., 2000. Polyglutamine length-dependent interaction of Hsp40 and Hsp70 family chaperones with truncated N-terminal huntingtin: their role in suppression of aggregation and cellular toxicity. Hum. Mol. Genet. 9, 2009–2018.
- Jawad, Z., Paoli, M., 2002. Novel sequences propel familiar folds. Structure 10, 447-454.
- Jiang, J., Ballinger, C.A., Wu, Y., Dai, Q., Cyr, D.M., Hohfeld, J., Patterson, C., 2001. CHIP is a U-box-dependent E3 ubiquitin ligase: identification of Hsc70 as a target for ubiquitylation. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 42938–42944.
- Jiang, J., Prasad, K., Lafer, E.M., Sousa, R., 2005. Structural basis of interdomain communication in the Hsc70 chaperone. Mol. Cell 20, 513–524.
- Johnston, J.A., Ward, C.L., Kopito, R.R., 1998. Aggresomes: a cellular response to misfolded proteins. J. Cell Biol. 143, 1883–1898.
- Kabani, M., McLellan, C., Raynes, D.A., Guerriero, V., Brodsky, J.L., 2002. HspBP1, a homologue of the yeast Fes1 and Sls1 proteins, is an Hsc70 nucleotide exchange factor. FEBS Lett. 531, 339–342.
- Kahn, R., Volpicelli-Daley, L., Bowzard, B., Shrivastava-Ranjan, P., Li, Y., Zhou, C., Cunningham, L., 2005. Arf family GTPases: roles in membrane traffic and microtubule dynamics. Biochem. Soc. Trans. 33, 1269–1272.
- Kaiser, C.M., Chang, H.C., Agashe, V.R., Lakshmipathy, S.K., Etchells, S.A., Hayer-Hartl, M., Hartl, F.U., Barral, J.M., 2006. Real-time observation of trigger factor function on translating ribosomes. Nature 444, 455–460.
- Kanner, E.M., Klein, I.K., Friedlander, M., Simon, S.M., 2002. The amino terminus of opsin translocates "posttranslationally" as efficiently as cotranslationally. Biochemistry 33, 6121–6128.
- Karan, G., Yang, Z., Zhang, K., 2004. Expression of wild type and mutant ELOVL4 in cell culture: subcellular localization and cell viability. Mol. Vis. 10, 248–253.
- Katsanis, N., Beales, P.L., Woods, M., Lewis, R., Green, J., Parfey, P., Ansley, S., Davidson, W., Lupski, J., 2000. Mutations in *MKKS* cause obesity, retinal dystrophy and renal malformations associated with Bardet–Biedl syndrome. Nat. Genet. 26, 67–70.
- Kaushal, S., Khorana, H.G., 1994. Structure and function in Rhodopsin. 7. Point mutations associated with autosomal dominant retinitis pigmentosa. Biochemistry 33, 6121–6128.
- Kaushal, S., Ridge, K.D., Khorana, H.G., 1994. Structure and function in rhodopsin: the role of asparagine-linked glycosylation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 91, 4024–4028.
- Kean, E.L., 1999. The dolichol pathway in the retina and its involvement in the glycosylation of rhodopsin. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1473, 272–285.
- Kennaway, C.K., Benesch, J.L., Gohlke, U., Wang, L., Robinson, C.V., Orlova, E.V., Saibil, H.R., Keep, N.H., 2005. Dodecameric structure of the small heat shock protein Acr1 from Mycobacterium tuberculosis. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 33419–33425.
- Kim, J.C., Ou, Y.Y., Badano, J.L., Esmail, M.A., Leitch, C.C., Fiedrich, E., Beales, P.L., Archibald, J.M., Katsanis, N., Rattner, J.B., Leroux, M.R., 2005. MKKS/BBS6, a divergent chaperonin-like protein linked to the obesity disorder Bardet–Biedl syndrome, is a novel centrosomal component required for cytokinesis. J. Cell Sci. 118, 1007–1020.
- Kirik, V., Mathur, J., Grini, P.E., Klinkhammer, I., Adler, K., Bechtold, N., Herzog, M., Bonneville, J.M., Hulskamp, M., 2002. Functional analysis of the tubulin-folding cofactor c in Arabidopsis thaliana. Curr. Biol. 12, 1519–1523.
- Kito, K., Yeh, E.T., Kamitani, T., 2001. NUB1, a NEDD8-interacting protein, is induced by interferon and down-regulates the NEDD8 expression. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 20603–20609.
- Kobayashi, Y., Kume, A., Li, M., Doyu, M., Hata, M., Ohtsuka, K., Sobue, G., 2000. Chaperones Hsp70 and Hsp40 suppress aggregate formation and apoptosis in cultured neuronal cells expressing truncated androgen receptor protein with expanded polyglutamine tract. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 8772–8778.
- Kubota, S., Kubota, H., Nagata, K., 2006. Cytosolic chaperonin protects folding intermediates of Gbeta from aggregation by recognizing hydrophobic betastrands. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 103, 8360–8365.
- Kuhnel, K., Veltel, S., Schlichting, I., Wittinghofer, A., 2006. Crystal structure of the human retinitis pigmentosa 2 protein and its interaction with Arl3. Structure 14, 367–378.
- Kulaga, H., Leitch, C., Eichers, E., Badano, J., Lesemann, A., Hoskins, B., Lupski, J., Beales, P., Reed, R., Katsanis, N., 2004. Loss of BBS proteins cause anosmia in humans and defects in olfactory cilia structure and function in the mouse. Nat. Genet. 36, 994–998.
- Kunzelmann, K., Milenkovic, V.M., Spitzner, M., Soria, R.B., Schreiber, R., 2007. Calcium-dependent chloride conductance in epithelia: is there a contribution by Bestrophin? Pflugers Arch. 454, 879–889.
- Kurada, P., Tonini, T.D., Serikaku, M.A., Piccini, J.P., O'Tousa, J.E., 1998. Rhodopsin maturation antagonized by dominant rhodopsin mutants. Vis. Neurosci. 15, 693–700.
- Kuzhandaivelu, N., Cong, Y.S., Inouye, C., Yang, W.M., Seto, E., 1996. XAP2, a novel hepatitis B virus X-associated protein that inhibits X transactivation. Nucleic Acids Res. 24, 4741–4750.
- Lee, G.J., Vierling, E., 2000. A small heat shock protein cooperates with heat shock protein 70 systems to reactivate a heat-denatured protein. Plant Physiol. 122, 189–198.
- Lee, G.J., Roseman, A.M., Saibil, H.R., Vierling, E., 1997. A small heat shock protein stably binds heat-denatured model substrates and can maintain a substrate in a folding-competent state. EMBO J. 16, 659–671.
- Lee, B., Mehalow, A., Smith, R., Hicks, W., Naggert, J., Nishina, P., 2006. Prefoldin 5 (Pfdn5) is essential for the development of the mouse photoreceptor outer

segment (OS). Abstract presented at the Association for Research and Vision. Poster no. 2296.

- Leung, S.M., Hightower, L.E., 1997. A 16-kDa protein functions as a new regulatory protein for Hsc70 molecular chaperone and is identified as a member of the Nm23/Nucleoside Diphosphate Kinase family. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 2607–2614.
- Lewis, V.A., Hynes, G.M., Zheng, D., Saibil, H., Willison, K., 1992. T-complex polypeptide-1 is a subunit of a heteromeric particle in the eukaryotic cytosol. Nature 358, 249–252.
- Lin, J.H., Li, H., Yasumura, D., Cohen, H.R., Zhang, C., Panning, B., Shokat., K.M., Lavail, M.M., Walter, P., 2007. IRE1 signaling affects cell fate during the unfolded protein response. Science 318, 944–949.
- Linari, M., Hanzal-Bayer, M., Becker, J., 1999a. The delta subunit of rod specific cyclic GMP phosphodiesterase, PDE [delta], interacts with the Arf-like protein Arl3 in a GTP specific manner. FEBS Lett. 458, 55–59.
- Linari, M., Ueffing, M., Manson, F., Wright, A., Meitinger, T., Becker, J., 1999b. The retinitis pigmentosa GTPase regulator, RPGR, interacts with the delta subunit of rod cyclic GMP phosphodiesterase. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 96, 1315–1320.
- Lindquist, J.A., Hammerling, G.J., Trowsdale, J., 2001. ER60/ERp57 forms disulfidebonded intermediates with MHC class I heavy chain. FASEB J. 15, 1448–1450.
- Liu, X., Bulgakov, O.V., Wen, X.H., Woodruff, M.L., Pawlyk, B., Yang, J., Fain, G.L., Sandberg, M.A., Makino, C.L., Li, T., 2004. AIPL1, the protein that is defective in Leber congenital amaurosis, is essential for the biosynthesis of retinal rod cGMP phosphodiesterase. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 101, 13903–13908.
- Loo, M.A., Jensen, T.J., Cui, L., Hou, Y., Chang, X., Riordan, J.R., 1998. Perturbation of Hsp90 interaction with nascent CFTR prevents its maturation and accelerates its degradation by the proteasome. EMBO J. 17, 6879–6887.
- Ma, Q., Whitlock Jr., J.P., 1997. A novel cytoplasmic protein that interacts with the Ah receptor, contains tetratricopeptide repeat motifs, and augments the transcriptional response to 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 8878–8884.
- Marmorstein, L.Y., Munier, F.L., Arsenijevic, Y., Schorderet, D.F., McLaughlin, P.J., Chung, D., Traboulsi, E., Marmorstein, A.D., 2002. Aberrant accumulation of EFEMP1 underlies drusen formation in Malattia Leventinese and age-related macular degeneration. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 99, 13067–13072.
- Martin-Benito, J., Boskovic, J., Gómez-Puertas, P., Carrascosa, J., Simmons, C., Lewis, S., Bartolini, F., Cowan, N.J., Valpuesta, J., 2002. Structure of eukaryotic prefoldin and of its complexes with unfolded actin and the cytosolic chaperonin CCT. EMBO J. 21, 6377–6386.
- Matsumoto, G., Kim, S., Morimoto, R.I., 2006. Huntingtin and mutant SOD1 form aggregate structures with distinct molecular properties in human cells. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 4477–4485.
- Mayer, M.P., Bukau, B., 2005. Hsp70 chaperones: cellular functions and molecular mechanism. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 62, 670–684.
- Meacock, S.L., Lecomte, F.J., Crawshaw, S.G., High, S., 2002. Different transmembrane domains associate with distinct endoplasmic reticulum components during membrane integration of a polytopic protein. Mol. Biol. Cell 13, 4114–4129.
- Meindl, A., Dry, K., Herman, K., Manson, E., Ciccodicola, A., Edgar, A., Carvalho, M., Achatz, H., Hellebrand, H., Lennon, A., Migliaccio, C., Porter, K., Zrenner, E., Bird, M., Jay, M., Lorenz, B., Witwer, B., D'Urso, M., Meitinger, T., Wright, A., 1996. A gene (RPGR) with homology to the RCC1 guanine nucleotide exchange factor is mutated in X-linked retinitis pigmentosa (RP3). Nat. Genet. 13, 35–42.
- Mendes, H.F., van der Spuy, J., Chapple, J.P., Cheetham, M.E., 2005. Mechanisms of cell death in rhodopsin retinitis pigmentosa: implications for therapy. Trends Mol. Med. 11, 177–185.
- Miano, M., Testa, F., Filippini, F., Trujillo, M., Conte, I., Lanzara, C., Millan, J., De Bernardo, C., Grammatico, B., Mangino, M., Torrente, I., Carrozzo, R., Simonelli, F., Rinaldi, E., Ventruto, V., D'Urso, M., Ayuso, C., Ciccodicola, A., 2001. Identification of novel RP2 mutations in a subset of X-linked retinitis pigmentosa families and prediction of new domains. Hum. Mutat. 18, 109–119.
- Mimnaugh, E.G., Chavany, C., Neckers, L., 1996. Polyubiquitination and proteasomal degradation of the p185c-erbB-2 receptor protein-tyrosine kinase induced by geldanamycin. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 22796–22801.
- Misselwitz, B., Staeck, O., Rapoport, T.A., 1998. J proteins catalytically activate Hsp70 molecules to trap a wide range of peptide sequences. Mol. Cell 2, 593–603.
- Molinari, M., Eriksson, K.K., Calanca, V., Galli, C., Cresswell, P., Michalak, M., Helenius, A., 2004. Contrasting functions of calreticulin and calnexin in glycoprotein folding and ER quality control. Mol. Cell 13, 125–135.
- Morishima, Y., Kanelakis, K.C., Silverstein, A.M., Dittmar, K.D., Estrada, L., Pratt, W.B., 2000. The Hsp organizer protein hop enhances the rate of but is not essential for glucocorticoid receptor folding by the multiprotein Hsp90-based chaperone system. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 6894–6900.
- Nachury, M.V., Loktev, A.V., Zhang, Q., Westlake, C.J., Peranen, J., Merdes, A., Slusarski, D.C., Scheller, R.H., Bazan, J.F., Sheffield, V.C., Jackson, P.K., 2007. A core complex of BBS proteins cooperates with the GTPase Rab8 to promote ciliary membrane biogenesis. Cell 129, 1201–1213.
- Nollen, E.A., Morimoto, R.I., 2002. Chaperoning signaling pathways: molecular chaperones as stress-sensing 'heat shock' proteins. J. Cell Sci. 115, 2809–2816.
- Obermann, W.M.J., Sondermann, H., Russo, A.A., Pavletich, N.P., Hartl, F.U., 1998. In vivo function of Hsp90 is dependent on ATP binding and ATP hydrolysis. J. Cell Biol. 143, 901–910.
- Ohtaki, A., Kida, H., Miyata, Y., Ide, N., Yonezawa, A., Arakawa, T., Iizuka, R., Noguchi, K., Kita, A., Odaka, M., Miki, K., Yohda, M., 2007. Structure and molecular dynamics simulation of archaeal prefoldin: the molecular mechanism for

binding and recognition of nonnative substrate proteins. J. Mol. Biol. 376, 1130-1141.

- Peaper, D.R., Wearsch, P.A., Cresswell, P., 2005. Tapasin and ERp57 form a stable disulfide-linked dimer within the MHC class I peptide-loading complex. EMBO J. 24, 3613–3623.
- Pellecchia, M., Szyperski, T., Wall, D., Georgopoulos, C., Wuthrich, K., 1996. NMR structure of the J-domain and the Gly/Phe-rich region of the *Escherichia coli* DnaJ chaperone. J. Mol. Biol. 260, 236–250.
- Petäjä-Repo, U.E., Hogue, M., Laperrière, A., Bhalla, S., Walker, P., Bouvier, M., 2001. Newly synthesized human opioid receptors retained in the endoplasmic reticulum are retrotranslocated to the cytosol, deglycosylated, ubiquitinated, and degraded by the proteasome. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 4416–4423.
- Plantner, J.J., Poncz, L., Kean, E.L., 1980. Effect of tunicamycin on the glycosylation of rhodopsin. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 201, 527–532.
- Prodromou, C., Roe, S.M., OBrien, R., Ladbury, J.E., Piper, P.W., Pearl, L.H., 1997. Identification and structural characterization of the ATP/ADP-binding site in the Hsp90 molecular chaperone. Cell 90, 65–75.
- Prodromou, C., Siligardi, G., O'Brien, R., Woolfson, D.N., Regan, L., Panaretou, B., Ladbury, J.E., Piper, P.W., Pearl, L.H., 1999. Regulation of Hsp90 ATPase activity by tetratricopeptide repeat (TPR)-domain co-chaperones. EMBO J. 18, 754–762.
- Qian, Y.Q., Patel, D., Hartl, F.U., McColl, D.J., 1996. Nuclear magnetic resonance solution structure of the human Hsp40 (HDJ-1) J-domain. J. Mol. Biol. 260, 224–235.
- Quarmby, L.M., Parker, J.D.K., 2005. Cilia and the cell cycle? J. Cell Biol. 169, 707–710.
- Rajan, R.S., Kopito, R.R., 2005. Suppression of wild-type rhodopsin maturation by mutants linked to autosomal dominant retinitis pigmentosa. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 1284–1291.
- Ramamurthy, V., Roberts, M., van den, A.F., Niemi, G., Reh, T.A., Hurley, J.B., 2003. AIPL1, a protein implicated in Leber's congenital amaurosis, interacts with and aids in processing of farnesylated proteins. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 100, 12630–12635.
- Ramamurthy, V., Niemi, G.A., Reh, T.A., Hurley, J.B., 2004. Leber congenital amaurosis linked to AIPL1: a mouse model reveals destabilization of cGMP phosphodiesterase. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 101, 13897–13902.
- Rapoport, T.A., 2007. Protein translocation across the eukaryotic endoplasmic reticulum and bacterial plasma membranes. Nature 450, 663–669.
- Rebello, G., Ramesar, R., Vorster, A., Roberts, L., Ehrenreich, L., Oppon, E., Gama, D., Bardien, S., Greenberg, J., Bonapace, G., Waheed, A., Shah, G.N., Sly, W.S., 2004. Apoptosis-inducing signal sequence mutation in carbonic anhydrase IV identified in patients with the RP17 form of retinitis pigmentosa. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 101, 6617–6622.
- Renthal, R., Steinemann, A., Stryer, L., 1973. The carbohydrate moiety of rhodopsin: lectin-binding, chemical modification and fluorescence studies. Exp. Eye Res. 17, 511–515.
- Rogalla, T., Ehrnsperger, M., Preville, X., Kotlyarov, A., Lutsch, G., Ducasse, C., Paul, C., Wieske, M., Arrigo, A.P., Buchner, J., Gaestel, M., 1999. Regulation of Hsp27 oligomerization, chaperone function, and protective activity against oxidative stress/tumor necrosis factor alpha by phosphorylation. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 18947–18956.
- Roof, D.J., Adamian, M., Hayes, A., 1994. Rhodopsin accumulation at abnormal sites in retinas of mice with a human P23H rhodopsin transgene. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 35, 4049–4062.
- Rosenbaum, E.E., Hardie, R.C., Colley, N.J., 2006. Calnexin is essential for rhodopsin maturation, Ca2+ regulation, and photoreceptor cell survival. Neuron 49, 229–241.
- Ross, A., May-Simera, H., Eichers, E., Kai, M., Hill, J., Jagger, D., Leitch, C., Chapple, J., Munro, P., Fisher, S., Tan, P., Phillips, H., Leroux, M., Henderson, D., Murdoch, J., Copp, A., Eliot, M., Lupski, J., Kemp, D., Dollfus, H., Tada, M., Katsanis, N., Forge, A., Beales, P.L., 2005. Disruption of Bardet–Biedl syndrome ciliary proteins perturbs planar cell polarity in vertebrates. Nat. Genet. 37, 1135–1140.
- Rye, H.S., Roseman, A.M., Chen, S., Furtak, K., Fenton, W.A., Saibil, H.R., Horwich, A.L., 1999. GroEL–GroES cycling: ATP and nonnative polypeptide direct alternation of folding-active rings. Cell 97, 325–338.
- Saliba, R.S., Munro, P.M.G., Luthert, P.J., Cheetham, M.E., 2002. The cellular fate of mutant rhodopsin: quality control, degradation and aggresome formation. J. Cell Sci. 115, 2907–2918.
- Scheufler, C., Brinker, A., Bourenkov, G., Pegoraro, S., Moroder, L., Bartunik, H., Hartl, F.U., Moarefi, I., 2000. Structure of TPR domain–peptide complexes: critical elements in the assembly of the Hsp70–Hsp90 multichaperone machine. Cell 101, 199–210.
- Schrag, J.D., Bergeron, J.J., Li, Y., Borisova, S., Hahn, M., Thomas, D.Y., Cygler, M., 2001. The structure of calnexin, an ER chaperone involved in quality control of protein folding. Mol. Cell 8, 633–644.
- Schrick, J., Vogel, P., Abuin, A., Hampton, B., Rice, D., 2006. ADP-ribosylation factorlike 3 is involved in kidney and photoreceptor development. Am. J. Pathol. 168, 1288–1298.
- Schwahn, U., Lenzer, S., Dong, J., Feil, S., Hinzmann, B., van Duijnhoven, G., Kirschner, R., Hemberger, M., Bergen, A., Rosenberg, T., Pinckers, A., Fundele, R., Rosenthal, A., Cremers, F., Ropers, H., Berger, W., 1998. Positional cloning of the gene for X-linked retinitis pigmentosa 2. Nat. Genet. 19, 327–332.
- Shern, J.F., Sharer, J.D., Pallas, D.C., Bartolini, F., Cowan, N.J., Reed, M.S., Pohl, J., Kahn, R.A., 2003. Cytosolic Arl2 is complexed with cofactor D and protein phosphatase 2A. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 40829–40836.

- Siegert, R., Leroux, M.R., Scheufler, C., Hartl, F.U., Moarefi, I., 2000. Structure of the molecular chaperone prefoldin: unique interaction of multiple coiled coil tentacles with unfolded proteins. Cell 103, 621–632.
- Slavotinek, A., Stone, E., Mykytyn, K., Heckenlively, J., Green, J., Heon, E., Musarella, M., Parfey, P., Sheffield, V., Biesecker, L., 2000. Mutations in *MKKS* cause Bardet–Biedl syndrome. Nat. Genet. 26, 15–16.
- Sohocki, M.M., Perrault, I., Leroy, B.P., Payne, A.M., Dharmaraj, S., Bhattacharya, S.S., Kaplan, J., Maumenee, I.H., Koenekoop, R., Meire, F.M., Birch, D.G., Heckenlively, J.R., Daiger, S.P., 2000. Prevalence of AIPL1 mutations in inherited retinal degenerative disease. Mol. Genet. Metab. 70, 142–150.
- Sohocki, M.M., Browne, S.J., Sullivan, L.S., Blackshaw, S., Cepko, C.L., Payne, A.M., Bhattacharya, S.S., Khaliq, S., Mehdi, S.Q., Birch, D.G., Harrison, W.R., Elder, F.F.B., Heckenlively, J.R., Daiger, S.P., 2000. Mutations in a new photoreceptorpineal gene on 17p cause Leber congenital amaurosis. Nat. Genet. 24, 79–83.
- Stamnes, M.A., Shieh, B.H., Chuman, L., Harris, G.L., Zuker, C.S., 1991. The cyclophilin homolog ninaA is a tissue-specific integral membrane protein required for the proper synthesis of a subset of *Drosophila rhodopsins*. Cell 65, 219–227.
- Steinborn, K., Maulbetsch, C., Priester, B., Trautmann, S., Pacher, T., Geiges, B., Kuttner, F., Lepiniec, L., Stierhof, Y.D., Schwarz, H., Jurgens, G., Mayer, U., 2002. The Arabidopsis PILZ group genes encode tubulin-folding cofactor orthologs required for cell division but not cell growth. Genes Dev. 16, 959–971. Stephan, A., Vaughan, S., Shaw, M., Gull, K., McKean, P., 2007. An essential quality
- Stephan, A., Vaughan, S., Shaw, M., Gull, K., McKean, P., 2007. An essential quality control mechanism at the eukaryotic basal body prior to intraflagellar transport. Traffic 8, 1323–1330.
- Stoetzel, C., Laurier, V., Davis, E.E., Muller, J., Rix, S., Badano, J.L., Leitch, C.C., Salem, N., Chouery, E., Corbani, S., Jalk, N., Vicaire, S., Sarda, P., Hamel, C., Lacombe, D., Holder, M., Odent, S., Holder, S., Brooks, A.S., Elcioglu, N.H., Silva, E.D., Rossillion, B., Sigaudy, S., de Ravel, T.J., Lewis, R.A., Leheup, B., Verloes, A., mati-Bonneau, P., Megarbane, A., Poch, O., Bonneau, D., Beales, P.L., Mandel, J.L., Katsanis, N., Dollfus, H., 2006. BBS10 encodes a vertebrate-specific chaperoninlike protein and is a major BBS locus. Nat. Genet. 38, 521–524.
- Stoetzel, C., Muller, J., Laurier, V., Davis, E., Zaghloul, N., Vicaire, S., Jacquelin, C., Plewniak, F., Leitch, C., Sarda, P., Hamel, C., de Ravel, T., Lewis, R., Friederich, E., Thibault, C., Danse, J., Verloes, A., Bonneau, D., Katsanis, N., Poch, O., Mandel, J., Dollfus, H., 2007. Identification of a novel BBS gene (BBS12) highlights the major role of a vertebrate-specific branch of chaperonin-related proteins in Bardet–Biedl Syndrome. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 80, 1–11.Stojanovic, A., Hwa, J., 2002. Rhodopsin and retinitis pigmentosa: shedding light on
- Stojanovic, A., Hwa, J., 2002. Rhodopsin and retinitis pigmentosa: shedding light on structure and function. Receptors Channels 8, 33–50.
- Stone, D., Slavotinek, A., Bouffard, G., Banerjee-Basu, S., Baxevanis, A., Barr, M., Biesecker, L., 2000. Mutation of a gene encoding a putative chaperonin causes McKusick–Kaufman syndrome. Nat. Genet. 25, 79–82.
- Sung, C., Schneider, B.G., Agarwal, N., Papermaster, D.S., Nathans, J., 1991. Functional heterogeneity of mutant rhodopsins responsible for autosomal dominant retinitis pigmentosa. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 88, 8840–8844.
- Sung, C., Davenport, C.M., Nathans, J., 1993. Rhodopsin mutations responsible for autosomal dominant retinitis pigmentosa. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 26645–26649.
- Takahashi, Y., Chen, Y., Moiseyev, G., Ma, J.X., 2006. Two point mutations of RPE65 from patients with retinal dystrophies decrease the stability of RPE65 protein and abolish its isomerohydrolase activity. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 21820–21826.
- Takeuchi, H., Kobayashi, Y., Yoshihara, T., Niwa, J., Doyu, M., Ohtsuka, K., Sobue, G., 2002. Hsp70 and Hsp40 improve neurite outgrowth and suppress intracytoplasmic aggregate formation in cultured neuronal cells expressing mutant SOD1. Brain Res. 949, 11–22.
- Tatar, M., Khazaeli, A.A., Curtsinger, J.W., 1997. Chaperoning extended life. Nature 390, 30.
- Tian, G., Huang, Y., Rommelaere, H., Vandekerckhove, J., Ampe, C., Cowan, N.J., 1996. Pathway leading to correctly folded β-tubulin. Cell 86, 287–296.
- Tian, G., Bhamidipati, A., Cowan, N.J., Lewis, S.A., 1999. Tubulin folding cofactors as GTPase-activating proteins. GTP hydrolysis and the assembly of the alpha/betatubulin heterodimer. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 24054–24058.
- Ungewickell, E., Ungewickell, H., Holstein, S.E., Lindner, R., Prasad, K., Barouch, W., Martin, B., Greene, L.E., Eisenberg, E., 1995. Role of auxilin in uncoating clathrin-coated vesicles. Nature 378, 632–635.
- Vainberg, I., Lewis, S., Rommelaere, H., Ampe, C., Vandekerckhove, J., Klein, H.L., Cowan, N.J., 1998. Prefoldin, a chaperone that delivers unfolded proteins to cytosolic chaperonin. Cell 93, 863–873.
- van der Spuy, J., 2006. Focus on molecules: the aryl hydrocarbon receptor interacting protein-like 1 (AIPL1). Exp. Eye Res. 83, 1307–1308.
- van der Spuy, J., Cheetham, M.E., 2004. The Leber congenital amaurosis protein AIPL1 modulates the nuclear translocation of NUB1 and suppresses inclusion formation by NUB1 fragments. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 48038–48047.
- van der Spuy, J., Cheetham, M.E., 2006. The chaperone function of the LCA protein AIPL1. AIPL1 chaperone function. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 572, 471–476.

- van der Spuy, J., Chapple, J.P., Clark, B.J., Luthert, P.J., Sethi, C.S., Cheetham, M.E., 2002. The Leber congenital amaurosis gene product AIPL1 is localized exclusively in rod photoreceptors of the adult human retina. Hum. Mol. Genet. 11, 823–831.
- van der Spuy, J., Kim, J.H., Yu, Y.S., Szel, A., Luthert, P.J., Clark, B.J., Cheetham, M.E., 2003. The expression of the Leber congenital amaurosis protein AIPL1 coincides with rod and cone photoreceptor development. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 44, 5396–5403.
- Veltel, S., Gasper, R., Eisenacher, E., Wittinghofer, A., 2008. The retinitis pigmentosa 2 gene product is a GTPase-activating protein for Arf-like 3. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 15, 373–378.
- Vogel, M., Mayer, M.P., Bukau, B., 2006. Allosteric regulation of Hsp70 chaperones involves a conserved interdomain linker. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 38705–38711.
- Wang, T., Waters, C.T., Rothman, A.M., Jakins, T.J., Romisch, K., Trump, D., 2002. Intracellular retention of mutant retinoschisin is the pathological mechanism underlying X-linked retinoschisis. Hum. Mol. Genet. 11, 3097–3105.
- Wang, D.Y., Chan, W.M., Tam, P.O.S., Baum, L., Lam, D.S.C., Chong, K.K.L., Fan, B.J., Pang, C.P., 2005. Gene mutations in retinitis pigmentosa and their clinical implications. Clin. Chim. Acta 351, 5–16.
- Westhoff, B., Chapple, J.P., van der Spuy, J., Hohfeld, J., Cheetham, M.E., 2005. HSJ1 is a neuronal shuttling factor for the sorting of chaperone clients to the proteasome. Curr. Biol. 15, 1–7.
- Wiertz, E.J., Jones, T.R., Sun, L., Bogyo, M., Geuze, H.J., Ploegh, H.L., 1996. The human cytomegalovirus US11 gene product dislocates MHC class I heavy chains from the endoplasmic reticulum to the cytosol. Cell 84, 769–779.
- Wiertz, E.J.H.J., Tortorella, D., Bogyo, M., Yu, J., Mothes, W., Jones, T.R., Rapoport, T.A., Ploegh, H.L., 1996. Sec6l-mediated transfer of a membrane protein from the endoplasmic reticulum to the proteasome for destruction. Nature 384, 432–438.
- Wiszniewski, W., Zaremba, C.M., Yatsenko, A.N., Jamrich, M., Wensel, T.G., Lewis, R.A., Lupski, J.R., 2005. ABCA4 mutations causing mislocalization are found frequently in patients with severe retinal dystrophies. Hum. Mol. Genet. 14, 2769–2778.
- Wu, W.W., Molday, R.S., 2003. Defective discoidin domain structure, subunit assembly, and endoplasmic reticulum processing of retinoschisin are primary mechanisms responsible for X-linked retinoschisis. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 28139–28146.
- Xi, J., Farjo, R., Yoshida, S., Kern, T.S., Swaroop, A., Andley, U.P., 2003. A comprehensive analysis of the expression of crystallins in mouse retina. Mol. Vis. 9, 410–419.
- Yaffe, M.B., Farr, G.W., Miklos, D., Horwich, A.L., Sternlicht, M.L., Sternlicht, H., 1992. TCP1 complex is a molecular chaperone in tubulin biogenesis. Nature 358, 245–248.
- Yaffe, M.B., Schutkowski, M., Shen, M., Zhou, X.Z., Stukenberg, P.T., Rahfeld, J.U., Xu, J., Kuang, J., Kirschner, M.W., Fischer, G., Cantley, L.C., Lu, K.P., 1997. Sequencespecific and phosphorylation-dependent proline isomerization: a potential mitotic regulatory mechanism. Science 278, 1957–1960.
- Yang, Z., Alvarez, B.V., Chakarova, C., Jiang, L., Karan, G., Frederick, J.M., Zhao, Y., Sauve, Y., Li, X., Zrenner, E., Wissinger, B., Hollander, A.I., Katz, B., Baehr, W., Cremers, F.P., Casey, J.R., Bhattacharya, S.S., Zhang, K., 2005. Mutant carbonic anhydrase 4 impairs pH regulation and causes retinal photoreceptor degeneration. Hum. Mol. Genet. 14, 255–265.
- Yoon, J.H., Qiu, J., Cai, S., Chen, Y., Cheetham, M.E., Shen, B., Pfeifer, G.P., 2006. The retinitis pigmentosa-mutated RP2 protein exhibits exonuclease activity and translocates to the nucleus in response to DNA damage. Exp. Cell Res. 312, 1323–1334.
- Youker, R.T., Walsh, P., Beilharz, T., Lithgow, T., Brodsky, J.L., 2004. Distinct roles for the Hsp40 and Hsp90 molecular chaperones during cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator degradation in yeast. Mol. Biol. Cell 15, 4787–4797.
- Zako, T., Iizuka, R., Okochi, M., Nomura, T., Ueno, T., Tadakuma, H., Yohda, M., Funatsu, T., 2005. Facilitated release of substrate protein from prefoldin by chaperonin. FEBS Lett. 579, 3718–3724.
- Zhang, Q., Acland, G.M., Wu, W.X., Johnson, J.L., Pearce-Kelling, S., Tulloch, B., Vervoort, R., Wright, A.F., Aguirre, G.D., 2002. Different RPGR exon ORF15 mutations in Canids provide insights into photoreceptor cell degeneration. Hum. Mol. Genet. 11, 993–1003.
- Zhang, Y., Nijbroek, G., Sullivan, M.L., McCracken, A.A., Watkins, S.C., Michaelis, S., Brodsky, J.L., 2006. Hsp70 molecular chaperone facilitates endoplasmic reticulum-associated protein degradation of cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator in yeast. Mol. Biol. Cell 12, 1303–1314.
- Zhou, C., Cunningham, L., Marcus, A., Li, Y., Kahn, R.A., 2006. Arl2 and Arl3 regulate different microtubule-dependent processes. Mol. Biol. Cell 17, 2476–2487.